Department of Pediatric Surgery University of Hamburg Eppendorf University Hospital Director: Prof. Dr. med. W. Lambrecht

Effects of Prenatal Glucocorticoids and Postnatal Nitric Oxide Inhalation on the Survival and Lung Maturation of Newborn Rats with Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia

DISSERTATION

For attainment of the degree *Doctor of Medicine* in the major of Medicine at the University of Hamburg submitted by

Eleftherios George Savvas

Born in Athens, Greece

Hamburg 2007

Angenommen von der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg am: **14.03.2008**

Veröffentlicht mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg

Prüfungsausschuss, der/die Vorsitzende:PD. Dr. med. D. KluthPrüfungsausschuss: 2. Gutachter/in:PD. Dr. med. T. StratePrüfungsausschuss: 3. Gutachter/in:Prof. Dr. med. R. Böger

CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1	Topic	3
1.2	Goal of this study	3
1.3	Normal development of the diaphragm	4
1.3.1	Pathogenesis of CDH in the human	4
1.3.2	Pathogenesis of CDH in the rat model	5

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1	Animals	5
2.1.1	Mating and conception confirmation	5
2.1.2	Approval of study by ethics committee	6
2.1.3	Grouping of Sprague-Dawley rats	6
2.2	Introduction of CDH with nitrofen	7
2.2.1	Teratogenic potency and mechanism of action of nitrofen	7
2.2.2	Chemical properties of nitrofen	7
2.3	Dexamethasone treatment	7
2.3.1	Chemical properties of dexamethasone	8
2.3.2	Antenatal dexamethasone therapy	8
2.4	Nitric oxide treatment	8
2.4.1	Properties of nitric oxide	8
2.4.2	Actions and properties of endothelium derived nitric oxide	9
2.5	Design of study	10
2.5.1	Experimental phase	10
2.5.2	Classification of hernias	10
2.5.3	Preparartion of lung specimens	11
2.5.3.1	Paraffin bedding	11
2.5.3.2	Cutting of paraffin blocks	12
2.5.3.3	Staining of slides	12
2.5.4	Morphometric analysis	12
2.6	Statistical analysis	13

3	RESULTS	
3.1	General	13
3.2	Morphometric analysis of right lung specimens based on histology score .	14
3.3	Survival analysis of newborn rats	18
3.4	Sample pictures of lung sections	22
4	DISCUSSION	
4.1	Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: Introduction	. 25
4.1.2	Prenatal diagnosis and prognostic factors	25
4.1.3	Etiologic and genetic factors	26
4.1.4	Epidemiology and outcome	. 28
4.1.5	Morbidity in survivors of CDH	. 29
4.2	Therapeutic modalities I: Pharmacologic therapy	. 30
4.2.1	Inhaled nitric oxide: A pulmonary vasodilator	. 30
4.2.2	Phosphodiesterase inhibitors	31
4.2.3	Prostaglandins and prostacyclin	.32
4.2.4	Endothelin antagonists	. 32
4.2.5	Talazolin	33
4.2.6	Antenatal corticosteroid therapy	33
4.3	Therapeutic modalities II: Ventilation strategies	34
4.3.1	Partial liquid ventilation	.35
4.4	Therapeutic modalities III: Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation	. 35
4.5	Therapeutic modalities IV: Surgical procedures	. 36
4.5.1	Fetal surgery	. 36
4.5.2	Current postnatal surgical management of CDH	37
4.6	The rat model of CDH	38
4.7	Nitrofen as a teratogen	39
4.8	Discussion of study results	40
5	CONCLUSION	41
6	REFERENCES	43
7	ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	55
8	LEBENSLAUF	56
9	EIDESSTATTLICHE VERSICHERUNG	57

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Topic

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is a simple defect that results in a complicated syndrome with an often lethal outcome. A diaphragmatic defect, usually left-sided, allows abdominal contents to herniate into the thoracic cavity, leading to pulmonary hypoplasia [119], lung immaturity [162], and often left heart hypoplasia [176] causing persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn [142]. CDH occurs in approximately 1 in every 2,000 to 5,000 newborns [30, 114, 133, 136, 159, 179]. Despite major advances in neonatal resuscitation and intensive care, newborns with CDH still suffer from a high morbidity and mortality [129]. Although studies over the past two decades have brought insight into the embryology, pathophysiology, and natural history of CDH, as well as new treatment options such as high-frequency oscillatory ventilation, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, surfactant therapy, inhaled nitric oxide, and prenatal surgery, the mortality rate in newborns with antenatally diagnosed CDH is still 27.5-79% [3, 74, 133, 185]. A hidden mortality rate (deaths before admittance to a treatment center) in CDH ranges between 19.2% and 53% [77, 179].

The high mortality rate in newborns with CDH is directly proportional to the severity of the pulmonary hypoplasia and the associated pulmonary hypertension. It is not necessarily the size of the impaired lung that is detrimental to survival, but rather the associated pulmonary disorders such as surfactant deficiency, decreased ant-oxidant activity, increased vascular reactivity with decreased nitric oxide, and increased endothelin-1 activity [196]. The pulmonary hypertension is pathophysiologically in turn due to a reduced pulmonary vascular bed and an excessive muscularization of the pulmonary arteries [129].

Most of the modern treatment options mentioned above address the postnatal neonate that already has a hypoplastic lung. Although some neonates benefit from these therapeutic strategies, most will not survive. It is, therefore, important to improve antenatal therapies directed at altering lung growth early in utero in order to minimize pulmonary hypoplasia [196]. It is only through a combined antenatal and postnatal therapy that the mortality of newborns with CDH will be decreased.

1.2 Goal of this study

It has been shown in the nitrofen induced CDH rat model that prenatal maternal glucocorticoid administration improves biochemical maturity, increases lung compliance, and enhances lung morphology [125, 190]. There is already a widespread use of antenatal glucocorticoids to induce lung maturation in fetuses at risk of premature delivery suggesting a potential for a therapeutic effect in other fetuses with impaired lung development [56].

A previous research group from this department showed that inhaled nitric oxide (NO), as a sole intervention, significantly improved the survival rate of newborn rats with CDH [108]. Inhaled nitric oxide is a selective pulmonary vasodilator [158] improving oxygenation without producing a decrease in systemic vascular resistance [85]. This occurs because NO is inactivated immediately upon entering the blood by binding to hemoglobin and forming methemoglobin.

The goal of this study is to combine this antenatal and postnatal therapy regiment on the CDH rat model to determine the following:

- a. Perform a survival analysis and study the degree of lung maturation in CDH rats given only antenatal dexamethasone, antenatal dexamethasone and postnatal nitric oxide, and just postnatal nitric oxide (without cortisone).
- b. To study the following parameters and to quantify or correlate their further effects: degree of hernia, lung morphology, mortality, and therapy regiment.

1.3 Normal development of the diaphragm

The development of the diaphragm is best described in two parts: first the development of the diaphragmatic primordium and second the development of the pleural cavity and the closure of the pleuroperitoneal canals [112].

At the end of the third week of gestation a mass of mesoderm, which is bordered by the epithelium of the pericardial cavity cranially and the epithelium of the peritoneal cavity caudally, represents the beginning of the septum transversum. At this stage, dorsal passages exist between the thorax and the abdominal coelum through the pericardioperitoneal canals. As development continues, liver cells grow into the septum transversum causing it to expand in a ventrolateral direction. This septum is continuous to the dorsal structures of the embryo via the pulmonary ridges laterally and the gastrohepatic ligament medially [112]. Thus, the borders of the pleuroperitoneal canal are laterodorsally the pleuroperitoneal membrane (evolving from the pulmonary ridge), mediodorsally the mesentery of the esophagus, and ventrally the septum transversum.

The pleuroperitoneal membrane continues to grow (4th-8th week) medially and ventrally joining the mesenterium and septum transversum, thereby forming the pleural cavities and dividing the abdominal and thoracic coelum. The pleural cavities enlarge further and come into contact with the mesenchyme of the lateral body wall. This creates a ledge for myoblasts to build the muscular portion of the diaphragm. This is regarded as the final closure of the pleuroperitoneal canals.

1.3.1 Pathogenesis of CDH in the human

The mechanism responsible for the closure of the pleuroperitoneal canals is thought to play a major role in the development of CDH [196]. The present opinion is that the pleuroperitoneal membrane does not properly fuse with the surrounding tissue, thereby not closing the pleuroperitoneal canal. The canal then allows herniation of abdominal content into the thorax (also called Bochdalek hernia).

The process of closure, however, has never been fully studied [112]. There are various theories as to how the diaphragm closes. Some authors believe that the closure depends mainly on the normal development of the pleuroperitoneal membranes [135, 170]. Other theories include: continuous growth and pressure of the surrounding abdominal organs (liver, adrenal glands) forces the canal to close [211]; the suprarenal gland causes pleuroperitoneal canal closure [27]; and growth of a third structure, the posthepatic mesenchymal plate (seen in mice), leads to closure of the diaphragm [94]. Furthermore, most congenital diaphragmatic hernias occur on the left side, approximately 80%, due to earlier or more rapid closure of the right side – again for unknown reasons.

1.3.2 Pathogenesis of CDH in the rat model

The nitrofen induced CDH in the rat model has been extensively studied by Nakao [145, 146], Iritani [94], Kluth [108-112], and Tenbrinck [194]. The diphenyl ether herbicide nitrofen (2,4-dichlorophenyl 4'-nitrophenyl ether) is a potent teratogen, affecting many organ systems while causing little or no maternal mortality [39, 67] (the teratogenic potency, mechanisms of action, and chemical properties of nitrofen will be discussed in section 2.2.1 and 2.2.2).

In the rat model it has been determined that nitrofen given on day 9 of gestation induces a left-sided hernia. If nitrofen is given on day 10 or later only right-sided hernias are observed. The dosage necessary varies upon author; however, our laboratories have had consistent results with a single dose of 100 mg of nitrofen - producing hernias in almost 60% of the newborn rats [109, 194].

Embryologic studies on the morphology of the diaphragmatic anlage in Sprague-Dawley rat embryos after nitrofen ingestion have been carried out using the scanning electron microscope [110-112]. These studies have shown that a disturbed development of the diaphragmatic anlage was evident on day 13 for left sided defects after ingestion of nitrofen on day 9.5, and day 14 for right sided defects after ingestion of nitrofen on day 11.5. The septum transversum did not appear to be involved in the abnormal development; but rather, all developmental defects were found to be restricted to the posthepatic mesenchymal plate (PHMP) and the neighboring liver [112]. The liver anlage seems to show an abnormal growth pattern, and interferes with the normal growth of the PHMP. In 14 and 15 day old embryos (left-sided and right-sided defects, respectively), cells of the liver had already migrated into the thoracic cavity. It was concluded in these studies that in diaphragmatic development, the growth of the liver is in sequential balance with the PMHP, and that in the nitrofen treated rat embryos this balance of growth is disturbed leading to the CDH.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Animals

The animal specimens used for this project were newborn Sprague-Dawley rats. The parent Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany). The weight of the maternal rats ranged between 200 and 250 grams, that of the paternal rats between 250 and 300 grams. The animals were then cared for in the experimental animal laboratory of the University of Hamburg, University Hospital Eppendorf, Germany. The animals were kept in a standardized room environment with a room temperature of 22° C, 50% +/-5% relative humidity, and a controlled 12-hour light/dark cycle. Nutrition consisted of altromin and water ad libidum.

2.1.1 Mating and conception confirmation

Mating took place between male and female Sprague-Dawley rats breed in the same animal farm (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany). Each pair was mated overnight. Conception was determined based on a positive finding of sperm in the vaginal smear taken during the next light-cycle. The day of observation was designated as day 0 of gestation. The average weight of the animals upon mating ranged between 200g-300g, and the age averaged between 8-10 weeks.

2.1.2 Approval of study by ethics committee

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hamburg Federal Board of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Care on February 24, 2000 (Az: G8151/591-00.33). The initial application for the study was submitted on December 13, 1999.

2.1.3 Grouping of Sprague-Dawley rats

The data for the control groups (group 1 and 2) were taken from a previous study from this institution [22]. Both groups consist of offspring of nitrofen treated rats (n=12 dams) that were independently allocated to group 1 or 2. Animals in group 1 were exposed to artificial air postnatally. Group 2 animals were exposed to nitric oxide postnatally.

The 20 dams in this study (groups 3 and 4) were also given nitrofen on day 11.5 of gestation in order to induce a right-sided congenital diaphragmatic hernia in the newborn litters (same procedure as for groups 1 and 2).

In order to evaluate the effects of dexamethasone on survival rate and lung maturity all 20 rats were injected with 0.25 mg/kg of dexamethasone intraperitoneally on day 18.5 and 19.5 of pregnancy.

These 20 rats were then independently divided into two groups. The offspring of some were exposed to artificial air postnatally (group 3), and those of the others (group 4) were exposed to nitric oxide at 80 ppm.

Experimental Groups						
Group 1 (n = 88) (Control group) Newborn rats of nitrofen treated dams, with exposition to artificial air postnatally (Nitrofen)	Group 3 (n = 153) Newborn rats of nitrofen treated dams, given dexamethasone prenatally, and exposed to artificial air postnatally (Nitrofen + Dex)					
Group 2 (n = 104) Newborn rats of nitrofen treated dams, with exposition to nitric oxide postnatally (Nitrofen + NO)	Group 4 (n = 146) Newborn rats of nitrofen treated dams, given dexamethasone prenatally, and exposed to nitric oxide postnatally (Nitrofen + Dex + NO)					

Table 1: Description of Groups

2.2 Induction of CDH with nitrofen

The herbicide Nitrofen (2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether) was obtained from WAKO Chemicals (Tokyo, Japan). Nitrofen was dissolved in peanut oil and administered in a single oral dose of 100mg to the pregnant rats on day 11.5 of gestation to induce right-sided CDH (as per protocol described in 2.4.1).

2.2.1 Teratogenic potency and mechanisms of action of nitrofen

It has been known since 1971 by studies conducted by Ambrose, et al, that the diphenyl ether herbicide nitrofen (2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether) is a potent teratogen after maternal ingestion [9]. Nitrofen is the most potent teratogen of its class, causing a multitude of fetal defects in many organ systems, while causing little or no change in prenatal and maternal morbidity and mortality [57]. The extent of the teratogenic potency of a diphenyl ether correlates positively to the number of chlorine substituents and to their steric arrangement.

The mechanism of nitrofen teratogenicity is not known. Nitrofen affects the pituitaryhypothalamic-thyroid axis of the fetus due to its similar structure to thyroxine [39, 67]. However, the exact relationship between thyroid development and nitrofen teratogenicity has not been recognized [131].

2.2.2 Chemical properties of nitrofen

The chemical structure of nitrofen is $C_{12}H_7Cl_2NO_3$. It is a relative hydrophobic substance that has a good solubility in organic solutions. Its molecular weight is 284.1, the melting point is 70°C, the boiling point is 180-190°C, and the water solubility is less than 0.1 g/100 ml at 21°C. It exists as a colorless crystal at room temperature. The apparent color of nitrofen ranges from white to dark brown.



2.3 Dexamethasone treatment

Dexamethasone was given to all 18 dams by intraperitoneal injection on days 18.5 and 19.5 of pregnancy (section 2.4.1). The control groups I and II consisted of offspring from twelve dams that did not receive dexamethasone treatment (table 1) examined in the previous study [22].

2.3.1 Chemical properties of dexamethasone

The chemical structure of dexamethasone is $C_{22}H_{29}FO_5$. Its molecular weight is 392.5, the melting point is 262-264°C, and the water solubility is less than 0.1 g/100 ml at 25°C. It exists as a white to off-white crystalline powder at room temperature.



2.3.2 Antenatal dexamethasone therapy

Animal studies have shown that antenatal steroid therapy in experimentally induced CDH has led to accelerated surfactant synthesis and release [189], increased lung compliance [126, 173], improved morphogenesis [82], and prevention of pulmonary vascular wall thickening [151, 192]. The improved pulmonary vascular resistance at birth following steroid administration seems to be mediated by increased nitric oxide synthase activity, but the timing and duration of steroid administration appear to be critical to the response [70].

There is a widespread use of glucocorticoids to induce lung maturation in fetuses at risk of premature delivery, as well as case-reports of favorable outcomes in fetuses with CDH after antenatal betamethasone [56]. However, numbers are small and clinical trials of maternally administered corticosteroids are also few [51, 126].

2.4 Nitric oxide treatment

Immediately following spontaneous delivery on day 21 or 22 the newborn rats were taken from their mother and, after being tagged for identification, were when allocated to group 4 (and group 2 in the previous study) placed in a plastic chamber serving as a microincubator with a constant flow of 80 ppm nitric oxide. The newborns in group 3 (and group 1 in the previous study) received artificial air consisting of 21 vol% O_2 , 79 vol% N_2 , and 0.5 vol% miscellaneous.

The chamber had a volume of approximately 2 liters with several circular openings of approximately 1 cm on the upper side to allow an exhaust and prevent toxic concentration and build-up of NO₂. The plastic chamber was placed on a heating plate (Medax Nagel Type 13800) set at 39°C in order to help the newborn rats keep their physiological body temperature.

The nitric oxide and artificial air were purchased from AGA, Bocholt, Germany.

2.4.1 Properties of nitric oxide

The chemical structure of nitric oxide is NO. Its molecular weight is 30, the melting point is -164°C, the boiling point is -151.7°C, and the vapor density is 1.04. It is a colorless gas with a sharp, sweet odor that turns brown at high concentrations in air. NO is extremely lipophilic and can readily permeate biological membranes.

Authentic NO gas is exceedingly unstable and is oxidized (in the presence of O_2) within seconds to nitrogen dioxide (5-fold toxic potency) and higher oxides of nitrogen [90]. The rate of NO₂ formation increases with the F_{IO2}. Dilute solutions of NO exposed to oxygen have a half life of less than 10 seconds due to rapid oxidation to inorganic nitrate and nitrite.

NO is inactivated as it binds to hemoglobin, forming methemoglobin. Excessive concentrations of methemoglobin can alter oxygen-carrying capacity, worsening hypoxia and potentially aggravating hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction.

2.4.2 Actions and properties of endothelium derived nitric oxide

The simple molecule nitric oxide (NO), remarkably, was shown in 1987 [92, 154] to be identical to or an intermediate of endothelium derived relaxing factor. Nitric oxide is an endogenous vasodilator produced by the endothelium in response to both chemical and physical stimuli [91, 154].

The vascular endothelium produces NO from the released terminal-nitrogen after conversion of L-arginine to L-citrulline. The lipophilic gas then permeates into the vascular and smooth muscle, interacting with the heme moiety of guanylyl cyclase [138]. Guanylyl cyclase catalyzes the formation of cyclic GMP (cGMP) which acts directly on cell proteins as a second messenger. Regulation of cellular events by cGMP is accomplished by the interaction of the molecule with specific classes of target proteins, such as cyclic nucleotide-regulated protein kinases (for cGMP called G-kinases) [121]. Activation of G-kinases by cGMP may lower intracellular Ca²⁺ by phosphorylating and activating Ca²⁺-ATPase or components associated with the transporter [121, 172]. Lowered intracellular calcium concentration leads to less contraction, and therefore smooth muscle relaxation and vasodilation [137].

Another mechanism by which nitric oxide mediates vasodilation is the cGMPdependent activation of Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channels [72]. Chronic hypoxia has been shown to reduce nitric oxide and cGMP-mediated activation of the Ca^{2+} -dependent K⁺ channels by decreasing phosphorylation of the channel [157]. This could explain hypoxic vasoconstriction and refractory pulmonary hypertension in newborns following in utero hypoxia [209].

Other mechanisms of nitric oxide mediated vasodilation include: activation of Ca^{2+} -dependent K⁺ channels directly in the absence of cGMP or G-kinases [24]; down-regulation of the angiotensin II type I receptor expression [90]; and necessity for a physiologic balance between endothelin-1 and nitric oxide activity [164].

Nitric oxide is a selective pulmonary vasodilator that does not alter systemic vascular resistance. This occurs because NO is quickly inactivated after diffusion into the bloodstream by binding to hemoglobin. Due to its high affinity for hemoglobin (1500x that of CO), inhaled NO causes a relaxation of the pulmonary microcirculation in the ventilated areas of the lung for a short-lived effect of 3 to 5 seconds. Unwanted systemic side-effects, such as a decrease in systemic blood pressure, are extremely rare. Lastly, nitric oxide inhibits platelet aggregation and inhibits platelet adhesion to endothelial cell surfaces [163]. It, therefore, also has vasoprotective and anti-arteriosclerotic effects.

2.5 Design of study

The study is structured in a three-part experimental phase, a subsequent phase of preparing the extracted lung specimens for the histological evaluation, and the final phase of lung morphology evaluation by means of the light microscope.

2.5.1 Experimental phase

- 1. Induction of right sided diaphragmatic hernias in utero: Nitrofen was given to all 20 mother rats in this study, and to the 12 mother rats in the control groups of the previous study, on day 11.5 of gestation at the standardized time of 6:00 pm. The average weight of these Sprague Dawley rats at this point of gestation was 344g. Nitrofen (100 mg) was dissolved in peanut oil and administered in a single oral dose. The mother rats had to consume the herbicide within an hour in order to be included in the study. The animals were then further cared for in the standardized room environment as described in section 2.1.
- 2a. Observation and clinical evaluation of the newborn rats was performed at 2hour intervals for a period of 12 hours. Vitality of the animals was evaluated every two hours by a modified APGAR score, the "RAT score," based on skin color, spontaneous activity, and reactivity.
- 2b. The heart rate and percutaneous oxygen saturation were monitored continuously and recorded every 2 hours during which the animals were receiving artificial air or nitric oxide.

The results of the vitality RAT score (2a) and oxygen saturation (2b) will be evaluated in a further dissertation and will, therefore, not be further mentioned in this work.

3. Animals that died during the observation period were promptly inspected, weighed, and dissected for diaphragm inspection and lung recovery. All other animals were sacrificed by decapitation after 12 hours, and likewise dissected to confirm the presence or absence of CDH and record its size. After the weight and length of each animal was recorded, a thoracotomy and microdissection took place by use of the Olympus model SZ/SZH microscope; care was taken to not injure the diaphragm, the lungs, or any herniated organs in the thoracic cavity.

2.5.2 Classification of hernias

The hernias were classified based on size and the abdominal content of the thorax due to herniation:

Size of Hernia	Morphology of Thorax				
0	No Hernia				

1	Small Hernia which is totally covered by the lungs and can only be seen after lung elevation. < 30% of the entire thorax diameter
2	Hernia encompasses at least 30% of the thorax diameter. > 30% but < 50% of the thorax diameter
3	Hernia takes up at least 50% of the thorax diameter and there are no other abdominal structures other than the liver in the thorax. > 50% of the thorax diameter, no abd. content
4	Hernia takes up at least 50% of the thorax diameter and abdominal content other than the liver is present in the thorax. > 50% of the thorax diameter with abd. content

Table 2:Classification of Hernias

2.5.3 Preparation of lung specimens

2.5.3.1 Paraffin bedding

In order to embed the lung specimens in paraffin the following steps were necessary:

- a. Fixation of the specimens in Bouin solution
- b. Dehydration of the specimens was carried out by placement in subsequent alcohol solutions of the following concentration and time period while constantly mixing by means of a magnet pellet:

2-Propanol	
1. [70%] for 2 hours	5. [100%] for 4 hours
2. [70%] for 2 hours	6. [100%] for 2 hours
3. [80%] for 2 hours	7. [100%] at 42°C for 30 min. in incubator
4. [90%] for 2 hours	

- c. Placement of specimens in an equal mixture of 100% 2-propanol and paraffin in a closed container for 3 hours in the incubator at 42-44° C
- d. Placement of specimens in an open container of paraffin overnight for 12 hours in the incubator at 42-44° C
- e. Placement of specimens in an open container of paraffin for 4 hours at 56-58° C
- f. Last placement of specimens in an open container of paraffin for 4 hours at 56-58°C

- g. Lung specimens are then placed in a vertical position in a cubed plastic form measuring approx. 3x3cm. Fresh paraffin is hot dipped into the form. The form is then immediately cooled on ice for hardening
- h. After hardening a razor is used to cut off the excess paraffin leaving rectangular forms for cutting

2.5.3.2 Cutting of paraffin blocks

Only the right lung specimens were examined in this study. The fixated right lung specimens in the paraffin blocks were then cut from the apical to the basal end of the lung in 6 μ m slices with the rotating-microtome model 2035 Biocut and the Microm HM400, and then placed on slides. Each slide fit approximately 2 rows of 8 axial (horizontal) sections.

2.5.3.3 Staining of slides

Slides were stained in a modified Gomori trichrome stain:

- a. Paraffin was removed from material by subsequent placement in decreasing alcohol solutions (100-50% Roti-Histol)
- b. Staining of nucleus with Hämalaun
- c. Trichrom stain
- d. Differentiation in 1% acetic acid
- e. Placement in increasing alcohol solutions
- f. Lid placement with entellan

2.5.4 Morphometric analysis

After completion of staining the histological morphology of the lungs was examined under an Olympus BX60 light microscope. The histological material was evaluated and described by a study-team member who was not aware of the specimen grouping. In order to evaluate the same area of lung in each specimen, only slides at the level of the hilus were analyzed. The lung specimens were given a histological score by the observer based on the following criteria:

Histology-Score	Definition
1	 normal aerated lung (no atelectasis, no bullae) thin septal walls good peripheral perfusion thin vascular walls
2	 good aerated lung minimal thickening of alveolar septal walls good peripheral perfusion minimal thickening of vascular walls

3	 increased interstitial tissue internal bleeding into tissue often present normal septal wall formation often producing large emphysematous bullae and/or minimal atelectasis reduction of peripheral vascularisation and perfusion with larger central vessels advanced vascular wall thickening
4	 severe atelectatic lung intermediary stage between 3 and 4
5	 complete atelectatic lung only central vessels present severe vascular wall thickening

Table 3: Defining Criteria for Histology-Score

The transfer and conversion of pictures from the microscope was possible by use of the JVC color video camera model TK 1070E and the corresponding JVC AC-adapter.

2.6 Statistical analysis

Descriptive analysis of parametric data is expressed as means. In order to keep the data of each group independent, the mean (survival time or histology score) of each litter was first established and then averaged with the corresponding mean of each litter in that particular group. Whisker box plots were used to study the distribution of data. Statistical significance was estimated using the Kruskal-Wallis-Test and the Mann-Whitney-U-Test. Survival curves were based on Kaplan-Meier. P values of less than .05 were considered significant. Data tabulations and calculations were made using Microsoft Excel version 2002 and SPSS version 12.0.

3 **RESULTS**

3.1 General

A total of 491 offspring were studied in this project. As expected, due to the timing and dosage of nitrofen ingestion (detailed in section 1.3.2), right-sided hernias were observed in 398 (81.1%) of the newborn rats. As summarized in table 4, most hernias were large falling into size 3 and 4 of our classification (refer to table 2).

Hernia Size	No.	Percent
Ø (No Hernia)	93	18.9%
1	45	9.2%
2	51	10.4%
3	154	31.4%
4	148	30.1%
Total	491	100%

Table 4: Distribution of hernia size in newborn rats

After spontaneous delivery on day 21 or 22, nitrofen treated litters were divided and allocated to groups 1 to 4 as described in table 1. At that point in time the presence or absence of CDH could not be verified because the rats were still alive. The number of offspring in each group, the number of observed hernias in each group and their percentage are summarized in table 5. The 4 groups of newborn rats had a similar proportion of CDH. There was no evident difference in the distribution of the CDH sizes recorded. The distribution of hernia size is shown graphically in chart 1.

Group	Number of	Ø Hernia	Grade I	Grade II	Grade III	Grade IV	CDH
	Newborn Rats	(%)	Hernia	Hernia	Hernia	Hernia	Total
	(%)		(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
Ι	88 (100)	17 (19.3)	4 (4.5)	12(13.6)	29 (33.0)	26 (29.5)	71
II	104 (100)	30 (28.8)	11(10.6)	12(11.5)	28 (26.9)	23 (22.1)	74
III	153 (100)	18 (11.8)	18(11.8)	18(11.8)	61 (39.9)	38 (24.8)	135
IV	146 (100)	28 (19.2)	12(8.2)	9(6.2)	36 (24.7)	61 (41.8)	118
Total	491 (100)	93 (18.9)	45(9.2)	51(10.4)	154(31.4)	148(30.1)	398

Table 5: Group size and respective frequency of hernia in each treatment group

Distribution of hernia size in each treatment group



Chart 1: Bar graph of table 5

3.2 Morphometric analysis of right-lung specimens based on histology-score

The *histology-score* is defined in table 3. The score ranges from 1 - for a well developed, good aerated lung specimen, to 5 - for a poorly developed, completely atelectatic lung specimen. At the end of this chapter under section 3.4 are representative pictures of horizontal lung sections for each score.

As can be seen in table 6, we selected 377 right-lung specimens of the 491 newborn rats for histological evaluation. In each respective group the following proportion of specimens were examined: in the control group (group I) 26 of 88 specimens or 29.5%;

Experimental Group		Histology-Score					
		1	2	3	4	5	Total
I (Control)	Count	2	5	7	7	5	26
	% within Group	7.7	19.2	26.9	26.9	19.2	100
	% within All	2.7	8.6	7.2	7.2	18.5	6.9
II (NO)	Count	15	15	12	17	7	66
	% within Group	22.7	22.7	18.2	25.8	10.6	100
	% within All	20.5	25.9	9.8	17.5	25.9	17.5
III (Dex)	Count	13	29	47	46	10	145
	% within Group	9.0	20.0	32.4	31.7	6.9	100
	% within All	17.8	50.0	38.5	47.4	37.0	38.5
IV (NO+De	ex) Count	43	9	56	27	5	140
	% within Group	30.7	6.4	40.0	19.3	3.6	100
	% within All	58.9	15.5	45.9	27.8	18.5	37.1
Total	Count	73	58	122	97	27	377
	% within All	19.4	15.4	32.4	25.7	7.2	100

in group II 66 of 104 or 63.5%; in group III 145 of 153 or 94.7%; and in group IV 140 of 146 or 95.9%.

Table 6: Histology score tabulation



Histology score distribution in each treatment group

The entire litter of each mother rat was independently allocated to one of the four groups. In order to determine the histology score mean in each group (I-IV), the mean of each litter was first established and then averaged with the corresponding mean of each litter in that particular group.

The histology-score mean of group I is 3.31, group II is 2.79, group III is 3.08, and group IV is 2.59. The mean histology score was better in all three groups (II-IV) when compared to the control group I, meaning that the alveolar architecture and lung

Chart 2: Bar graph of table 6

development improved at least slightly in each treatment group; however, not enough to be statistically significant (p=0.113).

As can be seen in section 3.2.1 on survival times, most newborn rats with hernias of sizes 3 and 4 have high mortality rates (within the 12 hour observation period) irrespective of treatment. Therefore, reevaluation of histology-score means with exclusion of newborns with hernias of sizes 3 and 4 was carried out. This exclusion improves the mean in all four groups. The histology score mean of group I is then 2.90, of group II is 2.16, of group III is 2.15, and of group IV is 1.57. It seems that the anatomically favorable smaller hernias allow a longer period of survival and inhalation of NO; thereby, producing a better aerated lung. There is, of course, also lesser herniation to exert mechanical force on the developing lungs. The effect of prenatal dexamethasone on the alveolar architecture is also more apparent in this subgroup. The combined effect is clearly recognizable with the histology-score mean of 1.57 in group IV. Whisker box plots of the histology-score mean of each litter in each respective group are shown below in chart 3. It can be seen that the variation in data subsequently decreases, with the lowest variation being in group IV data. Furthermore, most data in group IV is within the lower and upper quartiles with just one litter being an outlier with a mean outside of the outer range.



Chart 3: Box plot (red dashed line is the mean)

The Kruskal-Wallis test shows an asymptotic significance of 0.013, with statistical significance in all groups when compared to IV (refer to table 7). This indicates that the combined treatment of dexamethasone prenatally and nitric oxide postnatally (as in group IV) has the most significant effect on lung development. The separate treatment of either dexamethasone prenatally (as in group III) or nitric oxide postnatally (as in group II) was not significant in comparison to the control or to each other. P-values of comparisons are listed in table 7.

IV	III	II	Ι	Group
0.012	0.206	0.202	Х	Ι
0.012	0.887	Х		II
0.022	Х			III

Kruskal-Wallis test p-values comparing histology scores for each group (without hernias 3-4)

Table 7: p-values

It has been suggested in a previous study from this department [22] that the nitrofen induced diaphragmatic hernia in our rat model is not the sole factor for the lung hypoplasia, but that nitrofen also causes direct damage to lung development - possibly a decrease in alveolar surface area. Evaluation of histology score means of newborn rats with no hernia (hernia \emptyset) resulted in a mean of 3.0 for group I, 2.04 for group II, 1.60 for group III, and 1.24 for group IV. One would assume that since the newborns do not have a hernia, then the histology score for all - irrespective of treatment - would be in the range of one. However, the histology scores of the 17 newborns in group I resulted in a mean of 3.0. This definitely suggests a direct degenerative lung change due to the nitrofen ingestion. Statistical comparison of means using Kruskal-Wallis gives a p value of 0.043 in this subgroup (only \emptyset hernia newborns), as well as significance in the control group compared to group 3 and 4. This indicates that the combined treatment of dexamethasone prenatally and nitric oxide postnatally (as in group IV) as well as the single treatment with prenatal dexamethasone (group III) improved the degenerative changes caused by nitrofen. The improvement in histology score in group II was not significant in comparison to the control group. P-values of comparisons are listed in table 8.

Kruskal-Wallis test p-values comparing histology scores for each group (only null hernias \emptyset)

Group	Ι	II	III	IV
Ι	Х	0.106	0.018	0.045
Π		Х	0.318	0.152
III			Х	0.536

Table 8: p-values

Group	Histology-	Groups w/o	Histology-	Groups with	Histology-
	Score mean	Hernias 3-4	Score Mean	only Hernia Ø	Score Mean
Ι	3.31	Ι	2.90	Ι	3.00
Π	2.79	II	2.16	II	2.04
III	3.08	III	2.15	III	1.60
IV	2.59	IV	1.57	IV	1.24

 Table 9: Overview of histology score means (the mean of each litter was first established and then averaged with the corresponding mean of each litter in that particular group)

3.3 Survival analysis of newborn rats

The observation period of the newborn rats was 12 hours (720 minutes); therefore, the upper limit of survival is 720 minutes, at which point in time the newborns were sacrificed. The survival times were first analyzed based on respective allocation in group, histology score, and size of hernia – as shown in table 10. As done with the histology scores, the survival time mean of each litter was first established and then averaged with the corresponding mean of each litter in that particular group.

Group	Survival Time Mean (min), [w/o Hernia	Histology Score	Survival Time Mean (min)	_	Size of Hernia	Survival Time Mean (min)
	[3-4],					
Ι	171 [306]	1	685		Ø	671
II	380 [639]	2	649		1	625
III	285 [585]	3	143		2	421
IV	312 [709]	4	119		3	108
		5	114		4	93

Table 10:	Survival time means	(survived = 720 min)
-----------	---------------------	----------------------

There is a gradual increase in survival time as the histology score improves, as well as when the hernia size decreases. As one would expect the rats survive longer when the lung histology is better developed (score of 1) and the hernia size is small or absent (hernia \emptyset). As can be seen in chart 4 and 5, newborns with a histology score of 1-2 survived considerably longer than those with a histology score of 3-5 irrespective of treatment (groups II-IV).



Chart 4: Survival time means based on histology score for each group



Chart 5: Survival analysis based on histology score (survivors \geq 720 minutes censored)

Statistical comparison of survival time means using Kruskal-Wallis shows no significance in treatment group comparisons (p=0.188). However, it is evident after further breakdown of survival time means based on hernia size (refer to chart 7), that newborns with hernias of size 3 and 4 had considerably worse survival time than those with no or smaller hernias. This is evident in the Kaplan Meier estimator for survival function shown in chart 6.



Chart 6: Survival analysis based on hernia size (survivors \geq 720 minutes censored)

Furthermore, irrespective of group allocation therapy regiments did not improve survival in newborns with large hernias. In other words, the experimental evidence shows that the newborns can be divided into a "good" prognosis group (newborns with hernias \emptyset , 1 and 2) that respond to ante- and postnatal treatment, and a "poor" prognosis group (newborns with hernias 3 and 4) that do not benefit from such care. This belief is further supported by the fact that the mean survival time of all newborns, irrespective of treatment with hernias of size 1-2 is 516 minutes, whereas for newborns with hernias of size 3-4 is considerably lower at 101 minutes.



Chart 7: Survival time means based on hernia size for each group

Statistical comparison of survival time means of treatment groups excluding newborns with hernias of size 3 and 4 showed an asymptotic significance of 0.020, with significance in the control group (I) and group II compared to group IV. This indicates that the combined treatment of dexamethasone prenatally and nitric oxide postnatally (as in group IV) improved survival time in comparison to no treatment and the single treatment with nitric oxide. P-values of comparisons are listed in table 11.

nicuns joi c	uch s	10mp ("	into ur n	ci iii ci ii	
Group	Ι	Π	III	IV	
Ι	Х	0.073	0.075	0.019	
Π		Х	0.669	0.031	
III Table 11: p-values			Х	0.182	

Kruskal-Wallis test p-val	lues comparing survival time
means for each grou	up (without hernias 3-4)

Kaplan Meier survival function plots of groups I-IV (excluding hernias 3-4) show the drastic improvement in survival probability when comparing the treatment groups to the control (chart 8). There is an over 60% probability of survival with group IV treatment in comparison to the control, and an over 40% probability of survival with either group II or III treatment in comparison to the control.





Chart 8: Survival analysis based on group (without hernias 3-4, survivors \geq 720 minutes censored)

In order to further evaluate the effect of nitrofen alone on the outcome, evaluation of survival time means of newborn rats with no hernia (Ø hernia) was also carried out. One would assume that since the newborns do not have a hernia, then the survival time mean - irrespective of treatment - would be in the range of the maximum 720 minutes. However, the survival time mean of the 17 newborns in group I with no hernia resulted in a mean of 488 minutes. This definitely suggests a direct degenerative lung change. due to the nitrofen ingestion, affecting the survival time. However, this change must have not been very severe since the survival time improved drastically in all three treatment groups (group II was 701 min., group III and IV each with 720 minutes). Statistical comparison of means shows an asymptotic significance of 0.026 in this subgroup (only \emptyset hernia newborns). However, even though all treatment groups had an extreme improvement in the survival time mean, only groups II and IV were statistically significant in comparison to the control group. This indicates that the combined treatment of dexamethasone prenatally and nitric oxide postnatally (as in group IV) as well as the single treatment with postnatal nitric oxide (group II) improved the degenerative changes caused by nitrofen. The improvement in survival time in group III was not significant in comparison to the control group. P-values of comparisons are listed in table 12.

Kruskal-Wallis test p-values comparing survival time means for each group (only null hernias Ø)

Group]	П	III	IV
I	Х	0.030	0.093	0.019
II		Х	0.694	0.694
III			Х	0.959

Table 12: p-values

Kaplan Meier Survival Analysis



Chart 9: Survival analysis based on group (only newborns with \emptyset hernias, survivors \ge 720 minutes censored)

3.4 Sample pictures of lung sections

Fixated right lung specimens at the level of the hilus were analysed using a modified Gomori trichrome stain. In figure 1 is a slice of the right lung of a control group newborn (magnification x10) that survived the entire observation period. As can be seen the alveolar architecture is well developed with no atelectasis or bullae. There are thin septal and vascular walls with good peripheral perfusion. This slide corresponds to a histology score of 1.



Figure 1: Histology score of 1. Slice of right lung of newborn P1 in group I (magification: x10)

In the next slide (fig. 2) is the right lung specimen of a newborn from group II that also survived the 12-hour observation period. After close examination of the lung structure it is evident that the alveolar walls are somewhat thickened, interstitial tissue is increased, and alveolar air space is slightly diminished. This slide corresponds to a histology score of 2.



Figure 2: Histology score of 2. Slice of right lung of newborn F1 in group II (magification: x10)

In the next slide (fig. 3) is the right lung specimen of a newborn from group IV that did not survive the observation period. The pulmonary architecture has now further worsened with alveolar walls clearly thickened, interstitial tissue markedly increased, and alveolar air space noticeably diminished. There are also signs of reduction of peripheral vascularisation and perfusion with thickened alveolar-capillary interface. This slide corresponds to a histology score of 3.



Figure 3: Histology score of 3. Slice of right lung of newborn U2 in group IV (magification: x10)

In the next slide (fig. 4) is the right lung specimen of a newborn from group IV that did not survive the observation period. The lung tissue is dense and hypoplastic. The interstitial and alveolar walls are massively thickened. The alveolar air space is, due to atelectasis and internal bleeding, markedly diminished. This slide corresponds to a histology score of 4.



Figure 4: Histology score of 4. Slice of right lung of newborn W1 in group IV (magification: x10)

In the next slide (fig. 5) is the right lung specimen of a newborn from group III that did not survive the observation period. The lung tissue is completely hypoplastic with severe atelectasis. This newborn only survived 70 minutes after birth with postnatal nitric oxide treatment. This slide corresponds to a histology score of 5.



Figure 5: Histology score of 5. Slice of right lung of newborn H1 in group III (magification: x10)

DISCUSSION

4.1 Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: Introduction

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) remains a challenge to clinicians with high mortality despite advances in antenatal and postnatal diagnosis, and the advent of new therapeutic modalities. The clinical spectrum of CDH ranges from minimally affected infants who do well with modern neonatal care to severely affected infants who die despite all interventions. The high neonatal mortality is mainly due to pulmonary hypoplasia and pulmonary hypertension. The diaphragmatic defect, usually left-sided, allows abdominal contents to herniate into the thoracic cavity, leading to pulmonary hypoplasia and ultimately postnatal respiratory failure. Although the pulmonary hypoplasia may be partly reversible with antenatal and postnatal care, affected neonates often require months of ongoing treatment [4, 19, 76, 78]. Emphasis now is on prenatal diagnosis, antenatal care, pre-operative stabilization, and delayed repair [149, 191]. The purpose of this study has been to gather further information on therapy regiments for the antenatal care and pre-operative stabilization of newborns with CDH using the nitrofen treated CDH-rat model.

4.1.2 Prenatal diagnosis and prognostic factors

Over the last three decades enormous advances have been made in the understanding, detection of, and approach to fetal abnormalities. Accurate antenatal diagnosis allows possible prenatal care and delivery in an environment with the availability of innovative therapeutic techniques. It further allows for informed counseling of the family with regard to the outcome of the pregnancy and the possible treatment options, such as continuing with or terminating the pregnancy, and in-utero fetal manipulation[81].

Antenatal diagnosis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia by ultrasonography was described toward the end of the 1970s [87, 201]. The improvements in the resolution of ultrasound pictures has made it possible to detect the diaphragmatic hernia early in gestation; however, the timing of the herniation may be as late as the third trimester of pregnancy[28] making it impossible to detect all defects in the second trimester. In a study taken from data of 20 registries of congenital malformations in 12 European countries[62], the overall detection rate was high at 59% but varied significantly between European regions (30%-75%). The mean gestational age at discovery was 24.2 weeks (range 11-38 weeks), indicating that a rather large proportion of cases was diagnosed after the routine second-trimester scan. Although earlier detection of CDH has not yet shown increased survival rate of infants [63, 179, 186, 217] (perhaps due to more severe cases being diagnosed earlier), it does give the parents the option to a termination of pregnancy (TOP), since most European countries have an upper limit for TOP of 22-24 weeks (excluding Germany and France).

The prenatal ultrasound diagnosis of CDH is based on either direct signs, such as bowel loops, stomach and/or liver parts displaced into the thoracic cavity, polyhydramnios, small lung-thorax transverse area ratio, or indirect signs, such as an abnormal position of the heart with mediastinal shift. It has been attempted to use these signs as prognostic factors for poor outcome; however, none of these features have been uniformly predictive of outcome. Currently, the most reliable prenatal predictor of postnatal outcome for left CDH is liver herniation [6, 134]. Color flow Doppler imaging of the umbilical and portal veins detects liver herniation in utero by following the vessels above the diaphragmatic defect [25]. When combined with amniocentesis to exclude chromosomal abnormalities and prenatal echocardiography to detect cardiac malformations, the presence of an isolated CDH can almost always be confirmed [141]. In difficult cases, the diagnosis can be confirmed with magnetic resonance imaging [89]. In one study the absence of liver herniation predicted 75-80% survival with either fetal or postnatal treatment [73] compared with historical survival of only 20% to 27% for fetuses with prenatally diagnosed CDH [3, 175]. In another study, the absence of liver herniation indicated a good prognosis with a survival of 79%, whereas liver herniation was associated with 41% survival [206].

The right lung area to head circumference ratio (LHR), defined as the two-dimensional right lung area measured at the level of the four-chamber view of the heart divided by the head circumference to normalize for gestational age, is also an important prognostic factor [122, 134]. An LHR less than 1.0 is associated with 100% mortality, whereas an LHR of more than 1.4 is associated with no mortality. For LHRs between 1.0 and 1.4, mortality is approximately 38-60%. The LHR is the first marker which has predicted the severity of lung hypoplasia in left CDH based on ultrasound appearance at 23-26 weeks gestation. It remains uncertain whether LHR is as accurate in predicting outcome in right CDH or in patients with ultrasound data after 26 weeks.

Fetal lung volume in CDH patients can be measured using three-dimensional ultrasound (technique of rotation of the multiplanar imaging) [168, 169]. Results are similar to those obtained by magnetic resonance imaging [53, 128]. Preliminary studies suggest that low fetal lung volume estimated by three-dimensional ultrasound in fetuses with CDH may be associated with pulmonary hypoplasia and neonatal mortality [169].

Lastly, new prognostic potential factors have been reported, such as fetal pulmonary artery diameters [180] or the use of acceleration time/ejection time ratio in pulmonary arteries by doppler blood flow velocimetry [61].

4.1.3 Etiologic and genetic factors

The presence of associated anomalies with co-morbidity affects survival of infants with CDH. Approximately 30-50% of cases with CDH have other malformations, karyotype anomalies, and syndromes [20, 47, 62, 159, 179, 200].

In sporadic cases male infants have more frequent anomalies of the genitalia and kidneys; whereas, female infants have more CNS, heart, gastrointestinal, and liver defects [200]. The distribution in CDH infants shows 56-75% with CNS anomalies, 15-25% with cardiovascular anomalies, and 5-10% with genitourinary anomalies [30, 47, 200]. In familial CDH cardiovascular and genitourinary anomalies occur most frequently in 29% of cases. The frequency of associated malformations is higher in stillborn (92%) than in liveborn infants (23.6%) [156, 160].

The incidence of chromosomal abnormalities varies widely in the literature. Reports show that approximately 11-31% of CDH newborns have a chromosomal abnormality [43, 62, 130, 159, 198]. The association of chromosomal anomalies and CDH significantly worsens the prognosis for these fetuses, and therefore warrants screening when the history or ultrasonography indicates high risk. The reported association of CDH and abnormalities in chromosomal number, chromosomal aberrations (deletions, mutations), and presumed patterns of malformations (syndromes, sequences), are listed

in Table 13. The table acts as a comprehensive list of abnormalities reported up to date with CDH; however, no single abnormality has been shown to be predominant in CDH patients.

Associated Abnormalities i	n Patients with Congenital D	Diaphragmatic Hernia
Based on numbers of chromosomes:	Recognizable patterns of anomalies:	Specific chromosomal abnormalities:
Trisomy 13 Trisomy 18 Trisomy 21 Partial trisomy 5 Partial trisomy 20 Tetraploidy 21 Tetrasomy 12p	Laterality sequence Pierre-Robin sequence Beckwith-Weidemann syndrome Brachmann-de Lange syndrome Poland anomaly Pentalogy of Cantrell Goltz-Gorlin syndrome Apert syndrome Klippel-Feil syndrome CHARGE association Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome Caudal regression sequence Collodion baby Dicephalus dipus dibrachius Stickler syndrome	Fryns syndrome Denys-Drash syndrome Fraser syndrome Blepharophimosis + 3 p-deletion Del (1)(q32->q42) Translocation 8q22 Translocation 1;21 Translocation 8;14 (q24;q21) Stickler syndrome Tuberous sclerosis 46, XY, -9+t(5q;9p) Ring chromosome 4, 7q+, del8 Balanced 10:x translocation 46, XY, -9+t(5q;9p) 46, XY, 7q-(q32) 47, XX, + marker Turner's syndrome
Multiple Congenital Abnormalit	ies:	
 A. Central Nervous system: Abse holoprosencephaly, hydroceph B. Cardian Defects: Ectopis cord ribs/right aortic arch, hypoplas transposition of the great vesse C. Pulmonary Anomalies: Pulmo D. Genitourinary Anomalies: Am agenesis, potter sequences, ute E. Skeletal Anomalies: Congenita anomalies F. Gastrointestinal Anomalie: Du Omphalocele: ureteral duplicat G. Craniofacial anomalies: Cleft 	ent corpus callosum, anencephaly, cr alus, iniencephaly, microcephaly, ne is, double outlet right ventricle, inte tic left heart, hypoplastic right heart is, tetralogy of fallot, ventricular sep onary sequestration ibiguous genitalia, bilateral cryptoch rus didelphys il hip dislocation, limb reduction def todenal atresia, imperforante anus, M ion, volvulus of small or large bowe lip, cleft palate	aniorachischis, eural tube defect, spina bifida rrupted aortic arch, eleven , pulmonary artery stenosis, otal defect fordism, hypospadies, renal fects, polydactyl, vertebral feckel's diverticulum,

H. Other: Cystic hygroma

Most studies show a male predominance in the male/female ratio for both familial and sporadic cases of right and left sided CDH ranging from 1.25 to 3.0 [20, 200]. It appears that sex linked factors do not have greater effect, with respect to the etiology of familial cases, than in nonfamilial cases. Familial cases of CDH have been observed and described regularly. The incidence of familial cases of CDH is estimated to be approximately less than or equal to 2% of all forms of CDH [46, 123, 193, 200]. To date, the mode of inheritance in familial cases of CDH remains unknown. There have been suggestions of autosomal recessive inheritance [156], autosomal dominant inheritance [41], and multifactorial inheritance [220]. The multifactorial mode of

Table 13 [114, 199]

inheritance seems possible due to the heterogeneity of the anatomic nature of the defect, the observation of associated anomalies, and the possible role of exogenous factors.

In 4-6% of all developmental defects in humans, drugs and environmental chemicals are considered to be of etiologic significance [216]. In animal models, exposure to different chemicals has been found to induce CDH. Polybrominated diphenyls, thalomide, nitrofen, quinine, and phenmatrazine have been used to induce CDH in embryos of different species [94]. In human subjects reports exist of CDH after maternal use of phenmetrazine early in gestation [160, 220]. Maternal ingestion of thalomide and quinine has also been mentioned as possibly causing diaphragmatic defects in humans [88, 113]. Geographical distribution in population based studies has shown a slightly higher prevalence rate of CDH in rural areas (2.12 rural vs. 1.45 urban) where elevated exposition to herbicides due to agriculture exists [200]. A maternal vitamin A deficient diet has been shown to cause CDH in various strains of rats [10, 207].

4.1.4 Epidemiology and outcome

Estimations of the incidence of congenital diaphragmatic defects range widely from 0.17 to 0.57 of 1000 births [114, 159, 200]. Geographical differences have been reported, which is suggested to be caused by differences in ascertainment of cases [12, 219].

In a population based study in California of CDH from 1983 through 1987 [200], 237 infants of 718,208 births were born with a CDH. The overall prevalence was 3.13 per 10,000 for live births and 3.30 for live births and stillbirths. In regard to anatomic defect, 95.8% of CDHs were posterolateral, 2.1% were Morgagni, and 2.1% were pars sternalis hernias. Approximately 84% of the posterolateral hernias were left-sided, 13% right sided, and 2% bilateral. The male to female ratio for isolated posterolateral hernias was 1.58.

Reports on congenital diaphragmatic hernia show a variation in mortality rate from 8% to 79% [33, 59, 74, 165, 222]. Mortality rates remain high even though new therapy regiments have been introduced [12, 219]. The mortality rates are influenced by what is known as the "hidden mortality" in CDH neonates. The hidden mortality includes all infants who die, in utero or soon after birth, with CDH that are not recognized. A meta-analysis by Skari and a study by Harrison both report a hidden mortality of 34%[74, 179]. The magnitude of the hidden mortality for CDH cannot be accurately determined retrospectively or from birth defects monitoring programs because many cases go unrecognized unless there is an autopsy. However, due to improvements in prenatal diagnostic imaging over the past two decades, it seems valid to assume that such a hidden mortality has decreased over the past few years and that these cases are not as often missed. This would in turn explain the constant high mortality rate of CDH neonates, since an increasing number can be referred to a fetal treatment center for care. This is in a accordance with a publication reporting a higher proportion of very affected infants in recent years [203].

There seems to be a higher mortality rate in right-sided CDH than in left-sided CDH (range of 20-40% higher mortality) depending on study design [12, 65, 77, 179, 202]. There is no clear association between sidedness and presence of associated major malformations, which suggests that other differences between LCDH and RCDH probably exist contributing to the differences in mortality rates.

4.1.5 Morbidity in survivors of CDH

A paucity of data exists regarding the long-term follow-up of patients that have survived with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Survivors of CDH remain one of the most complex patients to care for throughout their infancy and childhood. The literature that does exist reflects small patient cohorts with usually short follow-up duration. Associated morbidities include developmental delay, poor growth, gastroesophageal reflux disease, hearing loss, musculoskeletal abnormalities, and pulmonary disease.

A common but not well understood morbidity associated with the CDH survivor is the gastroesophageal reflux (GER) [102, 127, 140, 148, 178]. GER may result in failure to thrive, obstructive airway disease, aspiration pneumonia, esophagitis, and stricture formation [139]. Potential factors that may contribute to its development in CDH survivors include embryonic or surgical factors associated with the diaphragmatic repair. In a study by Muratore et al [140] following 121 survivors of CDH, 21% of the patients required an antireflux operation (fundoplicatio) for GER. Of these patients 68% had had a patch repair. Furthermore, 56% of the survivors were below the 25th percentile of growth within the first year of life. Patients who had prolonged intubation and prosthetic material at the gastroesophageal junction fared worse. To meet caloric needs with fluid limitations, high caloric density formulas are used (32-36 kcal/oz). Fluid or volume restriction together with the use of diuretics is used to manage pulmonary volume overload. Contributing to this growth failure is the concept of oral aversion [140]. It can last through infancy and childhood. It is speculated that the prolonged endotracheal intubation might lead to a delay in the development of the swallowing reflex or the sucking mechanism.

Several follow-up studies have shown functional pulmonary abnormalities in survivors of CDH [54, 80, 177]. Persistent reduction of blood flow in the lung ipsilateral to the defect has been a consistent finding. Ventilation on the hernia side has also been shown to be lower than normal; however, perfusion is worse. In a study by Vanamo et al [204] examining 60 survivors of CDH (having a mean age of 29.6), obstructive or restrictive ventilatory impairment was found in 52% of the patients; 25% had both obstructive and restrictive impairment. As expected, ventilation and perfusion of the lung on the side of the defect were reduced, the latter to a greater extent. It is assumed that the gradual expansion of the hypoplastic lung and consequent alveolar overdistension may result in early closure and obstruction of the small airways. Furthermore, the study showed a high prevalence of bronchial hyperreactivity (in 35% of the patients). The etiology is unknown but may be related to the abnormal bronchial development or to gastroesophageal reflux.

In addition to the nutritional and pulmonary sequelae mentioned above, the next most frequently encountered problems are neurological – manifested by developmental delays, abnormal head CT scans, EEGs, and hearing tests [127]. It is difficult to determine if such neurological sequelae are due to hypoxia at birth, the long recovery period, or perhaps treatment with ECMO. In a follow-up study by Lund et al [127] on 33 survivors, extraaxial fluid collections or enlarged ventricles were present on head CTs of 10 children; four children had clinical seizure activity; seven children required hearing aids; and seven others had abnormal results with brain-stem auditory evoked response testing. A variety of other anomalies and problems have been reported, such as bowel obstruction, cryptorchidism, and recurrent diaphragmatic hernia [54, 80, 102, 127, 140, 148, 177, 178, 204].

It is evident from the above morbidities on CDH survivors that surveillance is necessary at least through early childhood to identify high risk patients and provide adequate care.

4.2 Therapeutic modalities I: Pharmacologic therapy

4.2.1 Inhaled nitric oxide: A pulmonary vasodilator

In the past two decades there have been an incredible amount of reports on the responses of term and near-term newborns with acute hypoxemic respiratory failure to inhaled nitric oxide (iNO). Causes of such respiratory failure have been for example sepsis, asphyxia, dry lung syndrome, acute respiratory distress syndrome, pneumonia, meconium aspiration syndrome, or congenital diaphragmatic hernia. In such newborns pulmonary hypertension may develop and cause right- to-left shunting through the ductus arteriosus and/or the foramen ovale. The resulting hypoxia may further increase pulmonary vasoconstriction and thus trigger a vicious cycle. Intravenous vasodilators, such as tolazoline, are associated with severe side effects due to the associated reduction of systemic arterial pressure causing persistent right-to-left shunting [208]. In addition, they can relieve vasoconstriction in poorly ventilated areas aggravating ventilation-perfusion mismatch.

Nitric oxide (NO) induces smooth muscle relaxation of arterial vessel walls and appears to be identical to or an intermediate of endogenous endothelium derived relaxing factor (EDRF) [91, 92]. NO is an ideal local transcellular messenger because of its small size, lipophilic nature, and short duration of action. NO inhaled as a gas at low levels dilates selectively the pulmonary circulation. Significant systemic vasodilation does not occur because NO is inactivated by rapidly binding to hemoglobin [104, 225]. Inhaled NO maximizes ventilation-perfusion matching by preferentially vasodilating vessels in ventilated lung units only. Besides smooth muscle relaxation, NO has many diverse physiological functions such as neurotransmission, immunoregulation, and inhibition of platelet aggregation and adhesion [7, 98, 225]. It may, however, potentiate bleeding in premature newborns, surgical patients, and patients with hemostatic disorders [188]. Nitric oxide is a free radical, which forms peroxynitrite or nitrogen dioxide in the setting of a high oxygen concentration. Peroxynitrite and nitrogen dioxide are associated with lung injury [34]. Although this toxicity is regarded as low due to the rapid inactivation of NO in contact with blood, concentrations of nitrogen dioxide and methemoglobin should be monitored.

Inhaled NO has been shown to reverse hypoxia-induced pulmonary vasoconstriction both in experimental animals and healthy human volunteers without causing systemic hypotension [60, 166]. Although most studies demonstrate that iNO can be effective in the treatment of persistent pulmonary hypertension (PPHN), no therapeutic range has been established. Since the toxic concentration range for infants is not known, a lower limit of effective concentration of iNO is desired. In most studies, iNO therapy has been initiated with a greater concentration, then decremented to a lower dose for maintenance of vasodilatory effects. For example, Kinsella et al [104] reported a dosing regiment of 20 ppm for 4 hours followed by 6 ppm for 20 hours and demonstrated sustained improvement in oxygenation. On the other hand, Karen et al [100] reported that continuous low doses of iNO (6 ppm) resulted in a comparable improvement in oxygenation without a higher dose of iNO at the initiation of therapy. A review of the literature shows an effective range for infants from 1 ppm to 80 ppm, with most reports stating no further benefit was achieved at higher concentrations above 20 ppm [100, 106]; however, there seem to be early and late responders to iNO and each case should be handled separately [223]. It is assumed that as the vascular endothelium is repaired and endogenous NO production increases, progressively lower doses of inhaled NO are then needed to produce the desired therapeutic response [143]. Furthermore, it has been suggested that higher concentrations (about 80 ppm) of NO diffuse from ventilated to nonventilated areas, resulting in undesirable vasodilation in poorly ventilated areas and thus increase the intrapulmonary shunt [64, 143].

In comparison to the widely accepted use of inhaled nitric oxide in newborns with persisitent pulmonary hypertension (PPHN) due to various causes [167, 212], the use of inhaled NO in the subset of newborns with PPHN due to CDH remains controversial [1, 36, 118, 174]. The most widely referred to study in the literature is from the NINOS group (Neonatal Inhaled Nitric Oxide Study Group) [1], in which the authors conclude that for term and near-term infants with CDH and hypoxemic respiratory failure unresponsive to conventional therapy, inhaled NO does not reduce the need for ECMO or death based on a randomized, double-masked, controlled multicenter study. This is in comparison to other reports of successful treatment of pulmonary hypertension with iNO in newborn infants with CDH whereby ECMO was prevented [84, 104, 105]. Kinsella et al reported that even in late or protracted pulmonary hypertension 10 ppm of iNO delivered by a nasal cannula reduces the duration of mechanical ventilation and safely treats PH in CDH newborns [105]. Karamanoukian et al reported that iNO requires exogenous surfactant therapy in the lamb model of CDH due to the pathophysiology of CDH involving surfactant deficiency as well as pulmonary hypoplasia [99]. Some authors report the parallel use of surfactant in cases of deficiency, but it is not always decipherable in the literature if surfactant was used. Intratracheal instillation of exogenous surfactant has been shown to improve oxygenation and pulmonary function in infants with RDS [96].

4.2.2 Phosphodiesterase inhibitors

Phosphodiesterase inhibitors (PI) have shown pulmonary vasodilatatory effects similar to that of iNO. The concomitant use of iNO and PIs has shown a synergistic vasodilatatory effect in some studies. Furthermore, the use of PIs to wean patients off inhaled nitric oxide has been successful.

Nitric oxide mediates vasodilation by increasing the activity of soluble guanylyl cyclase. Guanylyl cyclase catalyses the formation of cyclic GMP (cGMP), which acts as a second messenger interacting with G-kinases and activating intracellular pathways. cGMP is hydrolyzed and inactivated by cGMP-specific (type 5) phosphodiesterases (PDE5). Inhibitors of PDE5, such as zaprinast and dipyridamole, have been shown to reduce hypoxic vasoconstriction and pulmonary artery pressure in animal models [38, 210]. Nebulized zaprinast administered directly to the lungs of conscious lambs with pulmonary hypertension caused a sustained increase in the net transpulmonary release of cGMP and selectively dilated the pulmonary circulation without systemic side effects [38, 210]. Further animal studies with combined use of PIs and iNO exhibit synergistic vasodilatory effects.

In contrast to the animal studies, the response of humans to phosphodiesterase inhibitors, as well as in combination with iNO, have been less positive. In pediatric patients with severe resting pulmonary hypertension, combined therapy with inhaled nitric oxide (20 ppm) and dipyridamole decreased the PVR index by over 20% in only 50% of the patients, which was not statistically different from nitric oxide therapy alone [227]. In newborns with PPHN and CDH, two studies reported only transiently

improving oxygenation in infants given dipyridamole and iNO with augmentation of response to iNO [103, 197]. It appears that, since phosphodiesterase inhibitors and exogenous nitric oxide both act by increasing cGMP in pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells, maximal therapeutic effects might be achieved by optimizing the dosing and conditions of each individual case.

The use of dipyridamole to wean from inhaled nitric oxide has shown consistent positive results. A number of studies have shown that PDE5 inhibition attenuates rebound pulmonary hypertension, which can occur following withdrawal of iNO, in patients with PPHN with and without CDH [5, 11, 31]. Rebound pulmonary hypertension is thought to be related to phosphodiesterase activity and diminished cGMP.

4.2.3 Prostaglandins and prostacyclin

Arachidonic acid is metabolized through the cyclo-oxygenase and lipoxygenase pathways to form prostaglandins and leukotrienes, several of which have been reported to exhibit vasoactive effects in the fetal or neonatal pulmonary ciculations [195]. Prostaglandin I2 (prostacyclin) is an important mediator of pulmonary vasodilation. Patients with severe pulmonary hypertension have been reported to exhibit a deficiency in prostacyclin synthase in lung vessels [210]. A number of studies have also shown that prostacyclin plays a role in vasodilation during the normal transition to extrauterine life [2]. Repeated or continuous administration of prostacyclin to preterm infants has shown to improve oxygenation without causing overt side effects, tachyphylaxis, or clinically relevant alterations in systemic arterial pressure [49].

4.2.4 Endothelin antagonists

The endothelins are a family of endothelial cell derived vasoconstrictor peptides, first identified in 1988 [224]. The isopeptide ET-1 binds primarily to the ET-A receptor, which mediates vasoconstriction. The ET-A receptor is present in smooth muscle cells in fetal lung. The ET-B receptor has been identified on endothelial cells in the fetal and newborn lung [226]. Binding of ET to the ET-B receptor mediates vasodilation by mechanisms involving the cGMP-dependent end pathway of nitric oxide mediated vasodilation [95].

Circulating ET-1 levels are high in the fetal and transitional circulations, and are significantly reduced by the fourth day of life [144]. This suggests that ET-1 may play a physiological role in modulating pulmonary vascular tone during fetal to neonatal transition. ET-A receptor antagonism by exogenous agents has been promoted as a therapy for pulmonary hypertension; however, these efforts have been complicated by the complex interaction between the vasoconstrictor and vasodilator effects of ET-A and ET-B receptors, and by the binding kinetics of ET to these receptors under different physiological conditions. The therapeutic utility of exogenous ET-1 or ET-A blockers in pulmonary hypertension in newborns has yet to be established.

4.2.5 Talazoline

Talazoline is a potent nonspecific vasodilator that has been in use for at least two decades to reduce pulmonary vasoconstriction. Its primary action is as a competitive α -adrenergic antagonist. Talazoline acts directly on smooth muscle, and does not need nitric oxide or endothelium to function [45]. Although intravenous talazoline lowers the mean pulmonary arterial pressure and increases the cardiac index in infants with PPHN, its benefits are often complicated by adverse effects, most notably systemic hypotension.

The most promising new approach is the administration of tolazoline directly into the respiratory system. Animal studies and clinical reports on endotracheal talazoline use on infants with PPHN have shown promising results [44, 155]. However, the specifics of delivery and concentration still need to be determined.

4.2.6 Antenatal Corticosteroid Therapy

Corticosteroids have an effect on both epithelial and mesenchymal cells, affecting both structural development and cell differentiation [15, 17]. Corticosteroids mature fetal lung parenchymal structure in laboratory studies [15], and investigations have demonstrated that a single course of antenatal corticosteroids, given to fetal primates early in gestation at the midcanalicular phase of lung development, accelerates epithelial and interstitial lung maturation when evaluated anatomically 40 days after treatment [29]. In addition, there is an increase in fetal lung compliance and maximum lung volume, as well as an improved ventilatory efficiency index independent of surfactant.

Corticosteroids induce the synthesis of all known components of surfactant [15] and increase the percentage of saturated phosphatidylcholine. This effect is achieved in part by the stimulation of several key enzymes of phosholipid synthesis including fatty acid synthetase, choline phosphate cytidylyltransferase, and lysophosphatidylcholine acyl coenzyme A acyltransferase. The development of type II cells, and both tissue and alveolar concentrations of surfactant are increased. In addition, surfactant-associated proteins A, B, C, and D are increased [16, 52].

Other effects of corticosteroids include increased activity of antioxidant enzymes including superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, and catalase [58]; and a decrease in fetal lung capillary protein leak with an increase in lung liquid clearance [93]. Endogenous corticosteroids seem to play a significant role in late gestation fetal lung maturation. Circulating unbound cortisol and corticoid conjugates increase during late gestation, in parallel with changes in the lecithin-sphingomyelin ratio, and at a time when the lung acquires differentiated functions [132].

Synthetic corticosteroids, such as betamethasone and dexamethasone, have been studied extensively in human trials because they are not bound by corticoid binding globulin, cross the placenta without being inactivated, and have a greater affinity for steroid receptors than cortisol [15, 132]. Antenatal glucocorticoid therapy causes a transient feedback inhibition to ACTH, with a transient suppression of ACTH, cortisol, dehydroepianderosterone, hydroxyprogesterone, estrogens, and growth hormone. The effects on the maternal adrenal axis rebound within 48 hours of a single course of therapy, whereas the fetal adrenal axis rebounds within 6 days [14, 17]. Those infants exposed to a single course of antenatal corticosteroids remain responsive to stress after birth with an increase in endogenous cortisol and maintain responsiveness to exogenous ACTH [14, 17].

The first reported human trial of antenatal corticosteroids was in 1972 [120]. Both the incidence of respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) and overall mortality were reduced in infants born at less than 32 weeks gestation treated with betamethasone for at least 24 hours before delivery. A meta-analysis of published studies up to 1995 on the use of single course of antenatal corticosteroids demonstrated consistent evidence of beneficial effects on neonatal outcome for those infants born at less than 34 weeks gestation [42]. There was a 50% reduction in the overall incidence of RDS in the treated groups, with an effect persistent for born infants of 24 hours to 7 days after treatment. There was also a reduction in mortality (40%) and intraventricular hemorrhage (62%) among these infants. The antenatal use of corticosteroids has shown to reduce the need for surfactant [101], and multicenter trials of exogenous surfactant therapy have shown an augmentation of the surfactant effect on neonatal respiratory outcome by antenatal steroid treatment [71].

Several follow-up studies of infants with antenatal steroid exposure have been performed [42, 51]. Despite the initial concern that long term neurodevelopmental sequelae may develop due to delays in nerve myelination, there has been no evidence of a negative effect on physical growth and development after antenatal steroid therapy.

There are up to date no extensive studies of antenatal hormone therapy for human fetuses with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Antenatal hormonal treatment for lung maturity has been studied in animal models of CDH. Antenatal dexamethasone therapy in experimentally induced CDH in the rat model has led to accelerated surfactant synthesis and release [189], increased lung compliance [173], improved morphogenesis, and prevention of pulmonary vascular adventitial and medial wall thickening [151, 192]. There are also associated increases in surface area, airspace volume fraction, and saccule size and volume with a decrease in saccular septal thickness in lung tissue. Antenatal steroid therapy has similarly been shown to suppress pulmonary endothelial angiotensin-converting enzyme activity to levels equivalent to those seen in normal lungs, potentially reducing the predisposition to pulmonary hypertension [152]. A study of ovine fetuses has suggested that the improved pulmonary vascular resistance at birth following steroid administration is mediated by increased nitric oxide synthase activity, but that the timing and duration of steroid administration appear to be critical to this response [70]. In a study of human archival lung tissue from CDH patients an increased mRNA expression of glucocorticoid receptor was found, suggesting that the hypoplastic lung is more sensitive to glucocorticoids than the normal lung [181].

4.3 Therapeutic modalities II: Ventilation strategies

In order to minimize barotrauma or ventilator-inflicted injury and preserve the limited number of alveoli there has been a trend towards less aggressive hyperventilation usually associated with conventional mechanical ventilation (CMV). Studies have shown that this goal can be achieved by e.g. early institution of ECMO, adoption of permissive hypercapnia, institution of high frequency oscillatory ventilation (HFOV) at low pressures, or introduction of new forms of ventilation such as intratracheal pulmonary ventilation (liquid ventilation). There exists no clear cut evidence that any of these modalities offer a significant survival advantage over conventional ventilation alone; however, autopsies performed on nonsurvivors show significant barotrauma on patients after CMV [12, 219].

Recent studies have shown a significant increase in survival of CDH newborns with concomitant decrease in morbidity by the application of gentle ventilation and

permissive hypercapnia [13, 23]. Barotrauma is minimized by largely ignoring the right-to-left shunt. Respiratory support before surgery in such a setting has peak inspiratory pressure (PIP) limited to 30 cm H₂0, PEEP to 5 cm H₂0, and mean airway pressure limited to 12 cm H₂0. Ventilator adjustments are based on maintaining a preductal 0_2 saturation of 90% or greater. Postductal lines are usually not placed and postductal saturations are ignored.

High-frequency oscillatory ventilation used in preoperative stabilisation has also shown to provide correction of hypoxemia, acidosis, and pulmonary hypertension before surgery [182]. It has further been used during surgical correction of CDH, allowing continuity in perioperative management and providing a stable thoracic field [26]. HFOV minimizes barotrauma due to much smaller alveloar pressure and volume variations. Reduction in PCO₂ and alkalosis can be obtained with HFOV in neonates with CDH despite severe pulmonary hypoplasia [50].

4.3.1 Partial liquid ventilation

Partial liquid ventilation (PLV), also known as perfluorocarbon-associated gas exchange, has been in development since the 1960s [35]. It has since then been demonstrated to be effective in experimental models, in mature and immature animals, as well as in term and preterm neonates with various pulmonary pathologies including CDH [161, 214]. However, its role in the management of humans with acute respiratory failure is still not established. Perfluorocarbon is instilled into the lungs to create a liquid functional residual capacity. Ventilation is then carried out using a conventional ventilator that delivers gas tidal volume into the perfluorocarbon-filled lungs. In the total liquid ventilation strategy, the complete substitution of the alveolar gas by perfluorocarbon is performed. Both liquid ventilation strategies, total and partial, are able not only to maintain gas exchange, but also reduce inflammatory changes. While total liquid ventilation remains an experimental technique, partial liquid ventilation could be readily applied, but its implementation still awaits the results from ongoing and future clinical trials [205].

4.4 Therapeutic modalities III: Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) was first reported by Bartlett in 1976 [18] to increase survival in infants with hypoxemic respiratory failure, since then the use of this therapeutic modality has increased dramatically. ECMO is usually a last line therapy for infants refractive to other forms of medical intervention or directly given to high risk infants in order to improve oxygenation, reduce pulmonary hypertension, and minimize barotrauma that often accompanies conventional ventilation. It involves the use of prolonged extracorporeal circulation to provide pump support for the dysfunctional heart and oxygenation for the failing lungs. The current technique of ECMO includes vascular access via venoarterial means for cardiorespiratory collapse or venovenous means for peripheral collapse, heparin titration based upon whole blood activated clotting time, and lung rest (at low ventilator settings) [183].

ECMO eligibility has changed over the years and varies among institutions; however, main criteria usually include: weight of newborn over 2 kg, gestational age \geq 34 weeks, PaO₂ < 40 for 2 hours, pH < 7.25 for 2 hours, oxygen index > 40, no uncorrectable cardiac anomalies, no lethal congenital anomalies. Total annual neonatal ECMO cases

due to respiratory failure have decreased over the past decade from a peak of 1510 cases in 1992 to 786 cases in 1998 [153]. New treatment modalities such as iNO, HFOV, surfactant administration, liquid ventilation, etc., have resulted in fewer patients requiring ECMO [86]. This has led to an increase of sicker infants being put on ECMO, making statistical analysis of survival difficult. Several studies have suggested improved survival rates can be achieved using ECMO in neonates with CDH as an attempt to reverse the cycle of persistent pulmonary hypertension and barotrauma [68, 86, 150]. However, other studies have not shown ECMO to be beneficial in improving survival for neonates with CDH [171, 184]. One explanation for the discrepancies on mortality between studies may be caused by an insufficient number of patients to provide statistical power to prove the null hypothesis. In a statistical analysis of data from the multicenter CDH registry from January 1995 to November 1997, it could be shown that ECMO significantly improves survival rate only for those CDH neonates with a predictive mortality risk $\geq 80\%$ [68].

According to the registered outcomes of 7,647 infants receiving ECMO due to severe respiratory failure up to the end of 1992 reported by the Extracorporal Life Support Organization (started in April 1976), the overall survival rate of infants is 81% [221]. Survival is highly influenced by the underlying diagnosis, with meconium aspiration syndrome faring best with 93% survival, and CDH as worst with 59% survival. Furthermore, 17% of infants experience a cranial infarct or hemorrhage, and of these 57% survive. As of July 2000 the overall survival rate for 15,525 newborns entered into the same registry slightly decreased to 78%. In a recent report on data from this registry (up to June 2001), it was shown that since the late 1980s, survival of infants with CDH requiring ECMO decreased from 63% to 52% [187]. The decreased survival rate was associated with increased rates of prenatal diagnosis, early-term delivery, lower birth weight, longer ECMO runs, and more frequent complications on ECMO. Although most authors assume that improvement in prenatal diagnosis, acute medical support, and transport have allowed sicker infants to reach referral centers and be included in survivor data, thereby offsetting potential improvements from ECMO; it was shown in this report that pre-ECMO respiratory severity had not changed significantly over the different time periods (1976 to 2001) and could not readily explain the decreased survival rates observed.

It should lastly be noted that a number of ECMO treated CDH patients have significant problems seen on late follow-up. These include the presence of chronic lung disease, neurodevelopmental sequelae, and gastroesophageal reflux (GER) [21, 48, 69]. All in all, however, the overall survival rate of approximately 80% for infants with respiratory failure and that of 52% for CDH infants is still quite impressive when one considers how gravely ill these newborns are.

4.5 Therapeutic modalities IV: Surgical procedures

4.5.1 Fetal surgery

The advances in prenatal screening and diagnosis, combined with an understanding of the pathophysiology of congenital anomalies, have brought incredible impetus to the field of fetal surgery. Since the fundamental problem in newborns with CDH is the pulmonary hypoplasia, a number of strategies have been used in an attempt to improve the growth of hypoplastic lungs before they are needed for gas exchange at birth. Initially open fetal (in-utero) repair of CDH proved technically difficult when liver herniation was present because of the compression of distorted ductus venosus and reduced umbilical venous flow during or after liver reduction from the fetal chest to the abdomen [107]. Although the procedure was feasible in fetuses without liver herniation, a prospective clinical trial comparing fetal CDH repair to postnatal therapy showed no difference in survival: 75% in the fetal surgery group and 86% in the postnatal therapy group survived [75]. The authors concluded that *in utero* repair does not improve survival over standard postnatal treatment in the subgroup of CDH fetuses without liver herniation, primarily because survival in this subgroup is favorable with or without prenatal intervention.

This experience led to the development of a new approach: temporary fetal tracheal occlusion. It has been shown in various animal models that increased fetal lung fluid egress results in pulmonary hypoplasia, whereas decreased fetal lung fluid egress results in large fluid filled lungs [8, 55, 83, 147, 215]. Prenatal tracheal occlusion was shown in the lamb model of CDH to induce lung growth with the reduction of herniated viscera and dramatic improvement in lung compliance and gas exchange. There are presently two approaches to clip the fetal trachea: open fetal surgery and the videofetoscopic technique (Fetendo Clip). Methods have included the use of external metal clips placed on the trachea by means of open hysterotomy, fetoscopic neck dissection, or internal tracheal occlusion with a detachable silicone balloon placed with the use of fetal bronchoscopy through a single 5-mm uterine port [107]. Problems with the Fetendo Clip technique include long operative time, potential laryngeal nerve damage during the dissection, and amniotic fluid leakage. The potential risks of tracheal occlusion include the development of fetal hydrops, and the induction of surfactant deficiency related to decreased type II pneumocytes. In a study by Harrison [79] comparing fetal endoscopic tracheal occlusion to standard postnatal care in high risk fetuses, tracheal occlusion (at 23 to 27 weeks of gestation) did not improve survival or morbidity rates in the cohort of fetuses with CDH. Furthermore, the fetuses that underwent tracheal occlusion were born at an average of 31 weeks of gestational age as a consequence of the intervention in comparison to 37 weeks in infants with standard postnatal care. The optimal timing and duration of occlusion in humans is still not known. Further randomized studies are in process to answer these questions as well as study the use of smaller (2-mm) fetoscopes to prevent preterm labor and delivery. Occlusion earlier in gestation, prior to the pseudoglandular stage of lung development, may lead to more reliable lung growth and there is some evidence that *in utero* reversal of tracheal occlusion gives even better results [215].

4.5.2 Current postnatal surgical management of CDH

Repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia has changed from an emergent procedure to a delayed procedure in the last decade. The concept of delayed surgery is based on the assumption that pulmonary hypoplasia and not the anatomical defect is primarily responsible for the prognosis of the patient. Some reports suggest that the cardiopulmonary instability of the newborn with CDH is exacerbated by early surgical intervention, and that delayed intervention allows for medical stabilisation before surgery [32, 66, 213]. During the stabilisation period, attempts are made to improve the cardiopulmonary function and maximize oxygen saturation by e.g. HFOV, induced alkalosis, pharmacologic vasodilator therapy, or even ECMO.

However, the benefit of delayed surgery in improving the survival rate of neonates with CDH has been controversial [40, 97, 218]. The premise that delayed repair will

improve pulmonary compliance changes remains unconfirmed. Most studies show a similar mortality rate in early and delayed intervention, although delayed therapy does allow for a stratification of patients for early ECMO or surgical repair, depending on the clinical course [218]. A further advantage of delayed repair may be the avoidance of intraoperative deterioration and iatrogenic pulmonary injury associated with early repair. Although delayed repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia is still controversial it is at the present time the standard therapy modality in most institutions.

Further controversies in the surgical management of CDH include the use of chest tubes, use of an abdominal versus thoracic approach, and the need for associated procedures. A review of the registry of the CDH Study Group on all live-born infants with CDH during 1995 and 1996 gave a snapshot of current management [37]. Sixty-two centers participated (centers in Europe, North America, and Australia), with 461 patients entered. Overall survival was 63%. The defect was left-sided in 78%, right-sided in 21%, and bilateral in 1%. A subcostal approach was used in 91% of patients; pleural drainage was used in 76%. A patch of some kind was used in just over half (51%) of the patients, with polytetrafluoroethylene being the most commonly used material (81%) in those patients with a patch. Patients with a patch repair had a higher mortality rate than patients repaired primarily (44% vs. 7%).

Synthetic repair of large congenital diaphragmatic defects (>90%) may lead to recurrence, progressive chest wall deformity, and restrictive pulmonary disease. Staged reconstruction with patch closure followed by definitive closure with living, growing tissue such as a reverse latissimus dorsi flap has been shown to be a safe and effective treatment option for patients with large defects [116].

4.6 The rat model of CDH

Due to moral and ethical reasons, as well as the low incidence of CDH requiring large multicenter population pools, human study on experimental strategies for CDH is not feasible. In order to study the pathophysiology and the effectiveness of different therapeutic modalities, various animal models have been developed.

Studies of CDH have been carried out on sheep, rabbits, swine, and mice. The lamb model of CDH has been crucial to our understanding of the pathophysiology of this complex disease. However, most sheep studies have induced a diaphragmatic hernia in a relatively late stage of development. The studies involve rather small numbers, high costs, and the need for surgical intervention to obtain the CDH.

An ideal animal model allows for high reproduction of the desired disease or anomaly, as well as a pathophysiology that corresponds to humans in order to apply the results to the human situation. Furthermore, the animal in the study must be easy to care, easy to breed, with a short gestation period and large litter.

In this experimental study we chose the nitrofen induced CDH rat model due to its proven efficacy as an ideal animal model for this specific malformation. It is generally accepted that a diaphragmatic hernia in humans is the result of a defective development in the diaphragm during the first trimester of gestation leading to abnormal lung development. It has been difficult to study the sequence of embryologic events leading up to the abnormal lung development in an animal model; however, the nitrofen induced CDH rat model has allowed extensive study of morphologic changes during embryogenesis specific for CDH [109-112]. This rat model has been extensively studied and established by Nakao [145, 146], Iritani [94], Kluth [108-112], and Tenbrinck [194].

It has been determined that nitrofen given on day 9 of gestation induces a left-sided hernia. If nitrofen is given on day 10 or later only right-sided hernias are observed. The dosage necessary varies upon author; however, our laboratories have had consistent results with a single dose of 100 mg of nitrofen. In such a manner we produced right-sided hernias in 81% of the offspring in this study with various degrees of severity. Although nitrofen given on day 9 can produce a smaller amount of left-sided hernia is of less importance to the interpretation of results in this animal model [109]. Furthermore, nitrofen given earlier in gestation can have a higher teratogenic effect on other organs. We, therefore, gave nitrofen on day 11.5 of gestation and produced right-sided hernias. This high turnover as well as the ease of care and effortlessness in obtaining lung histology has allowed a multitude of data to be gained efficiently in the nitrofen induced CDH rat model.

4.7 Nitrofen as a teratogen

It has been known since 1971 by studies conducted by Ambrose, et al, that the diphenyl ether herbicide nitrofen (2,4-dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether) is a potent teratogen after maternal ingestion [9]. Nitrofen is the most potent teratogen of its class, causing a multitude of fetal defects in many organ systems, while causing little or no change in prenatal and maternal morbidity and mortality [57]. Nitrofen affects the pituitary-hypothalamic-thyroid axis of the fetus due to its similar structure to thyroxine [39, 67]. Thyroid transcription factor 1 has been shown to be decreased in nitrofen exposed pups [124].

Various studies have shown that in the rat model tissues affected include lung, heart, diaphragm, kidney, liver, brain, thyroid, skeleton, and harderian gland; however, only pulmonary and cardiac dysfunction appear to affect short term neonatal survival [115]. In a study examining rats given nitrofen on days 10-13 of gestation (po 20 or 40 mg/kg daily), it was shown that the newborns have lower pulmonary contents of DNA, RNA, and protein [115]. Adrenal catecholemines, which play an important role in surfactant production and fluid resorption in the lung during the transition to air-breathing, were markedly reduced; and red blood cell concentration was significantly diminished. In a further study examining pulmonary growth after nitrofen ingestion, nitrofen was given on the 8th day of gestation, lungs were then removed on the 12th embryonic day and put in culture [117]. In such a manner the authors could evaluate lung growth and development before diaphragm closure and herniation. Nitrofen-exposed lungs had 30% fewer total terminal branches than age-matched controls, and the mRNA expression of proliferative and developmental markers was decreased. This suggests, that nitrofen exposed early embryonic lungs are both hypoplastic and developmentally immature even before the presence of an actual diaphragmatic hernia.

Although many studies report multiorgan pathologies in litter after nitrogen ingestion, it must be noted that nitrofen has usually been given at a much earlier embryonic stage. In order to limit further pathologic changes to other organ systems from nitrofen ingestion, we gave 100 mg of nitrofen on day 11.5 of gestation. Our institution has had consistent results with this dosage and timing with little toxicity to other organs.

Although the exact mechanism of nitrofen teratogenicity is not known, it must be assumed in the rat model that nitrofen causes a certain degree of pulmonary hypoplasia, which is secondarily aggravated by the presence of the diaphragmatic hernia. Whereas in the human disease, the diaphragmatic hernia is seen as the primary cause leading to the lung hypoplasia. As to what magnitude this discrepancy (or nitrofen toxicity) the correlation of our data to the human disease has - remains to be seen.

4.8 Discussion of study results

A total of 491 offspring from 32 dams were studied in this project. We had a high turn over with 81% of newborn rats having a right-sided hernia. We selected 377 right-lung specimens of the 491 newborn rats (or 77%) for histological evaluation. The nitrofen induced CDH rat model allowed an efficient data collection for the study of lung maturation and survival analysis.

Initial review of the data using bar graphs and survival curves was first carried out to confirm expected tendencies. There is a gradual increase in survival time as the histology score improves, as well as when the hernia size decreases. As one would expect the rats survive longer when the lung histology is better developed (score of 1) and the hernia size is small or absent (hernia \emptyset). Newborns with a histology score of 1-2 survive considerably longer than those with a histology score of 3-5 irrespective of treatment. Furthermore, newborns with hernias of size 3 and 4 have considerably worse survival times than those with no or smaller hernias (chart 6). Further evaluation showed that this effect of hernia size on survival is so severe that further assessment of results is not possible (p value too high). Only after exclusion of newborns with hernias of size 3-4 can we further evaluate the results. In other words, the experimental evidence shows that the newborns can be divided into a "good" prognosis group (newborns with hernias \emptyset , 1 and 2) that respond to ante- and postnatal treatment, and a "poor" prognosis group (newborns with hernias 3 and 4) that do not benefit from such care. The hernia size seems to be a good prognostic indicator in our study correlating well to liver herniation and right lung area to head circumference ratio applied to the human newborn (section 4.1.2) indicating poor prognosis when large. The fact that some newborns irrespective of treatment will not survive due to the large hernia or high degree of lung hypoplasia has been the motivating reason for antenatal therapy study. The further discussion of results excludes hernias of size 3 and 4.

The hypotheses going into this study were that antenatal cortisone (as in group III) will help lung maturation producing a better histology score; that inhaled nitric oxide (as in group II) produces better aeration of lung alveoles thereby improving the survival time; and that the combination of these therapies improves both factors. Assessment and comparison of groups II and III shows that their beneficial effect in comparison to the control group (I) is similar. Box plots (chart 3) of the histology score mean for their respective litters show a similar distribution of data, and the mean histology score is almost identical at 2.16 and 2.15, respectively. Although there was an evident improvement in the lung development in both groups compared to the control, it was not statistically significant in either group. Survival analysis also gives similar results with a mean of 639 and 585, respectively; survival probability using Kaplan Meier of roughly 80% for both groups, and an almost equal tendency of significance (table 11) in comparison to the control group (p=0.073, p=0.075) on survival. Unfortunately, the expected specific improvement in survival for group II newborns, and that for histology score for group III newborns could not be proven. Both therapies showed an equal effect with a moderate improvement in lung maturation and length of survival.

On the other hand, the combined effect of dexamethasone prenatally and nitric oxide postnatally, as in group IV, had a significant effect in comparison to the control group and often to groups II and III in both survival and lung maturation. The histology score

mean of 1.57 is significantly lower in comparison to all groups with little variation of data as shown on the box plot (chart 3). This implies that this combined therapy had the most effect on improving lung morphogenesis and prevention of vascular wall thickening that leads to pulmonary hypertension. This combined effect was significant not only when comparing to the control group, but also to groups II-III, meaning that an amplification of expected result was achieved. It has been mentioned that the improved vascular resistance at birth following steroid administration may be mediated by increased nitric oxide synthetase activity [70]. Based on our results it seems plausible to assume that the antenatal dexamethasone matures fetal lung parenchymal structure and enzyme function to a certain degree, allowing inhaled nitric oxide to enter a larger volume of functional alveolar space in order to selectively dilate the pulmonary circulation. The immature lung parenchyme may also be the reason that NO has been less effective in persistent pulmonary hypertension due to CDH than in other types of PPHN [1, 106].

Survival analysis of group IV shows a significant improvement in survival time not only in comparison to the control but also to group II. This significance (p=0.031, table 11) compared to group II perhaps implies that iNO alone has a lesser effect than dexamethasone alone (group III), since the combined therapy was not significantly better (p=0.182) than the dexamethasone therapy alone. As mentioned, it seems that the improvement in antenatal lung differentiation is a prerequisite for further postnatal therapy. However, it is again evident from the Kaplan Meier survival curve as well as the survival time mean of 709 minutes for group IV, that the combined therapy significantly improves survival and amplifies the effects of both therapies.

The multiorgan teratogenic effects of nitrofen have been mentioned in section 4.7. Although the nitrofen induced CDH rat model is an established model that has provided consistent results in our department, it does cause direct degenerative changes to lung structure. In order to assess the magnitude of these changes, newborns with no hernia were also evaluated. Since there is no hernia to cause mechanical compression of lung tissue from abdominal content, lung pathology must be directly associated with nitrofen toxicity. One would assume that since the newborns do not have a hernia, then the survival time mean - irrespective of treatment - would be in the range of the maximum 720 minutes. However, the survival time mean of the 17 newborns in group I with no hernia resulted in a mean of 488 minutes. The Kaplan Meier survival curve showed only a 65% probability of survival for the control group, and the histology score mean was 3.00. These results suggest a considerable effect of nitrofen on both lung maturation and survival. However, further evaluation of the therapy groups II-IV shows drastic improvement in both lung histology and survival, as shown in the survival curve (chart 9) depicting an almost 100% survival probability for groups II-IV. In this subgroup (only \emptyset hernias), group II has a significant effect on survival time (table 11), group III has a significant effect on histology score (table 8), and the combined therapy of group IV improves both parameters. Nitrofen definitely has a detrimental effect on lung maturation thereby affecting survival and of course our study results; however, the changes seem to be minor and very responsive to our therapy regiments.

5 CONCLUSION

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia is one of the most common causes of neonatal morbidity and mortality. Despite intensive clinical and experimental efforts, mortality from CDH remains high. CDH results in various degrees of pulmonary hypoplasia and severe persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. The clinical spectrum ranges from minimally affected infants who do well with modern neonatal care to severely affected infants who die despite all interventions. Perhaps these newborns would benefit from antenatal treatment directed at altering lung growth early in utero to minimize pulmonary hypoplasia. The use of combination therapies (antenatal and postnatal) will likely prove beneficial in these infants. The goal of antenatal and postnatal therapy is to first stabilize the newborn in order to perform a repair of the hernia, and secondly prevent a postoperative deterioration of cardiopulmonary function.

In this study it was shown that the combined therapy of antenatal dexamethasone and postnatal nitric oxide was successful in improving lung maturation and length of survival for a subgroup (large hernias excluded) of newborn rat litter. This combined therapy in the nitrofen induced CDH rat resulted in improved pulmonary compliance, narrowed septal walls, increased air saccule size, and thinning of the pulmonary interstitium. The greatest benefit of NO may be as adjunctive short term therapy in the preoperative stabilisation and delayed repair of infants with CDH to allow improvement of respiratory mechanics and reduction of operative risk. However, this benefit can only be achieved when a certin degree of lung maturation is present (perhaps histologically equivalent to our histology score of 3). The fact that severely affected pups were refractory to therapy regiments, similar to human clinical data, further underscores the need for antenatal therapy study. The severe lung hypoplasia must be addressed before birth, so that postnatal therapy can be successful. Early and reliable assessment of prognosis for fetuses with CDH at risk of death will become increasingly important in the identification of fetuses most likely to benefit from antenatal therapies and may eventually lead to a decrease in the mortality in this population. The challenge for the future is to continue development of therapeutic approaches in order to improve survival of neonates with CDH.

6 REFERENCES

- 1. (NINOS), N.I.N.O.S.G., Inhaled nitric oxide and hypoxic respiratory failure in infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatrics, 1997. **99**(6): p. 838-845.
- 2. Abman SH, S.K., et al, *Changes in lung eicosanoid content during normal and abnormal transition in perinatal lambs.* Am J Physiol, 1992. **262**: p. L214-L222.
- 3. Adzick NS, H.M., Glick PL, *Diaphragmatic hernia in the fetus: Prenatal diagnosis and outcome in 94 cases.* J Pediatr Surg, 1985. **20**: p. 357-336.
- 4. Adzick NS, O.K., Harrison MR, et al, *Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero. IV. An early gestational fetal lamb model for pulmonary vascular morphometric analysis.* J Pediatr Surg, 1985. **20**: p. 673-680.
- 5. Al-Alaiyan S, e.a., *The use of phosphodiesterase inhibitor (dipyridamole) to wean from inhaled nitric oxide.* Inten Care Med, 1996. **22**: p. 1093-1095.
- 6. Albanese CT, L.J., Goldstein RB, et al, *Fetal liver position and perinatal outcome for congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Prenat Diagn, 1998. **18**: p. 1138-1142.
- Albina JE, R., *Nitric oxide in inflammation and immunity*. New Horizons, 1995.
 3: p. 46-64.
- 8. Alcorn D, A.T., et al, *Morphologic effects of chronic tracheal ligation and drainage in the fetal lamb lung.* J Anat, 1977. **123**: p. 649-660.
- 9. Ambrose, A.M., Larson PS, Borzelleca JF, et al, *Toxicologic studies on 2,4dichlorophenyl-p-nitrophenyl ether*. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 1971. **19**: p. 263-275.
- 10. Anderson DH, *Effect of diet during pregnancy upon the incidence of congenital hereditary diaphragmatic hernia in the rat.* J Pathol, 1949. **25**: p. 265.
- 11. Atz AM, W.D., *Sildenafil ameliorates effects of inhaled nitric oxide withdrawal.* Anesthesiology, 1999. **91**: p. 307-310.
- 12. Azarow K, M.A., Pearl R, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia a tale of two cities: The Toronto experience.* J Pediatr Surg, 1997. **3**: p. 395-400.
- 13. Bagolan P, C.G., et al, *Impact of a current treatment protocol on outcome of high-risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Ped Surg, 2004. **39**: p. 313-318.
- 14. Ballard PL, e.a., Steroid and growth hormone levels in premature infants after prenatal after prenatal betamethasone therapy to prevent repiratory distress syndrome. Ped Res, 1980. **14**: p. 122.
- 15. Ballard PL, e.a., *Hormones in lung Maturation*. Monographs in Endokrinology, 1986(Springer Verlag).
- 16. Ballard PL, e.a., *Hormonal regulation of pulmonary surfactant*. Endocr Rev, 1989. **10**: p. 165.
- 17. Ballard PL, e.a., *Scientific basis and therapeutic regimens for use of antenatal glucocorticoids*. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1995. **173**: p. 254.
- Bartlett RH, G.A., et al, *Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation* cardiopulmonary support in infancy. Trans Am Soc Artif Intern Organs, 1976.
 22: p. 523-529.
- 19. Beals DA, S.B., Vacanti JP, et al, *Pulmonary growth and remodeling in infants with high-risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. J Pediatr Surg, 1992. **27**: p. 997-1001.

- 20. Benjamin DR, J.S., Siebert JR, *Congenital posterolateral diaphragmatic hernia: Associated malformations*. J Pediatr Surg, 1988. **23**: p. 899.
- 21. Bennett CC, F.D., et al, *UK collaborative randomised trial of neonatal extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: follow up to age 4 years.* Lancet, 2001. **357**: p. 1094-1095.
- 22. Bittner Claudia, Untersuchungen zum Pulmonalstatus neugeborener Ratten mit nitrofeninduzierter kongenitaler Zwerchfellhernie nach Inhalation von Stickstoff monoxid (NO), in Dept. of Pediatric Surgery. 1998, University of Hamburg, University Hospital Eppendorf: Hamburg. p. 102.
- 23. Boloker J, B.D., Wung JT, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in 120 infants treated consecutively with permissive hypercapnea/ spontaneous respiration/ elective repair.* J Ped Surg, 2002. **37**: p. 357-366.
- 24. Bolotina VM, N.S., Palacino JJ, Pagano PJ, et al, *Nitirc oxide directly activates calcium-dependent potassium channels in vascular smooth muscle*. Nature, 1994. **368**: p. 850-853.
- 25. Bootstaylor BS, F.R., Harrison MR, *Prenatal sonographic predictors of liver herniationin congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Ultrasound MEd, 1996. **14**(515-520).
- 26. Bouchut JC, D.R., et al, *High frequency oscillatory ventilation during repair of neonatal congenital diaphragamtic hernia.* Ped Anaesth, 2000. **10**: p. 377-379.
- 27. Bremer JL, *The diaphragm and the diaphragmatic hernia*. Arch Pathol, 1943. **36**: p. 539-549.
- 28. Bronshtein M, L.N., Sujov PO, makhoul IR, et al, *Prenatal diagnosis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia: timing of visceral herniation and outcome*. Prenat Diagn, 1995. **15**: p. 695-698.
- 29. Burton TE, P.C., et al, *Triamcinolone-induced structural alterations in the development of the lung of the fetal rhesus macaque.* Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1984. **148**: p. 203.
- 30. Butler N, C.A., *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia as a cause of perinatal mortality*. Lancet, 1962. 1: p. 659-661.
- 31. Buysse C, F.C., et al, *The use of dipyridamole to wean from inhaled nitric oxide in congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 2001. **36**(12): p. 1864-1865.
- 32. Cartlidge PHT, M.N., et al, *Preoperative stabilisation in congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Arch Dis Child, 1986. **61**: p. 1226-1228.
- 33. Chang DK, H.L., et al, *Mortality among infants with high-risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia in Singapore*. J Pediatr Surg, 1997. **32**: p. 95-98.
- 34. Cioffi WC, O.H., Inhaled nitric oxide in acute lung disease. New Horizons, 1995. **3**: p. 73-85.
- 35. Clark LC, G.F., Survival of mammals breathing organic liquids equilibrated with oxygen at atmospheric pressure. Science, 1966. **152**: p. 1755-1756.
- 36. Clark R, K.T., et al, *Low-Dose nitric oxide therapy for persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **342**: p. 469-474.
- 37. Clark RH, H.W., et al, *Current surgical management of congenital diaphragmatic hernia: A report from the congenital diaphragmatic hernia study group.* J Ped Surg, 1998. **33**: p. 1004-1009.
- 38. Cohen A.H., H.K., et al, *Inhibition of cyclic 3'-5'-guanosine monophosphate-specific phosphodiesterase selectively vasodilates the pulmonary ciculation in chronically hypoxic rats.* J Clin Invest, 1996. **97**: p. 172-179.
- 39. Costlow RD, M.J., *The heart and diaphragm: Target organs in the neonetal death induced by nitrofen.* Toxicology, 1981. **20**: p. 209-227.

- 40. Coughlin JP, D.D., et al, *Delayed repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Amer Surg, 1993. **2**: p. 90-93.
- 41. Crane JD, Familial congenital diaphragmatic hernia: Prenatal diagnostic approach and analysis of twelve families. Clin Genet, 1979. **16**: p. 244.
- 42. Crowley P, Update of antenatal steroid meta-analysis: Current knowledge and future research needs. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1995. **173**: p. 322.
- 43. Cunnif C, J.K., Jones MC, *Patterns of malformation in children with congenital diaphragmatic defects.* J Pediatr, 1990. **116**: p. 258.
- 44. Curtis J, O.N.J., et al, *Endotracheal administration of talazoline in hypoxia induced pulmonary hypertension*. Pediatrics, 1993. **92**: p. 403-408.
- 45. Curtis J, P.J., et al, *Production of pulmonary vasodilation by talazoline, independent of nitric oxide production in neonatal lambs.* J Pediatr, 1993. **128**: p. 118-124.
- 46. Cziezel A, K.M., *A family study of congenital diaphragmatic defects*. Am J Med Genet, 1985. **21**: p. 105.
- 47. David TJ, I.C., et al, *Diaphragmatic hernia in the south-west of England*. J Med Genet, 1976. **13**: p. 253.
- 48. Davis PJ, F.R., et al, *Long-term outcome following extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for congenital diaphragmatic hernia: the UK experience.* J Pediatr, 2004. **144**: p. 309-315.
- 49. De Jaegere AP, v.d.A.J., Endotracheal instillation of prostacyclin in preterm infants with persistent pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J, 1998. **12**: p. 932-934.
- 50. Desfrere L, J.P., et al, Impact of delayed repair and elective high-frequency oscillatory ventilation on survival of antenatally diagnosed congenital diaphragmatic hernia: first application of these strategies in the more "severe" subgroup of antenatally diagnosed newborns. Inten Care Med, 2000. **26**: p. 934-941.
- 51. Dessens AB, H.H., Koppe JG, *Twenty-year follow-up of antenatal corticosteroid treatment*. Pediatrics, 2000. **105**: p. E77.
- 52. Dulkerian SJ, G.L., et al, *Developmental and hormonal regulation of surfactant protein D mRNA in human lung.* Ped Res, 1994. **35**: p. 66A.
- 53. Duncan KR, G.P., Moore RJ, et al, Assessment of fetal lung volume growth in utero with echo-planar MR imaging. Radiology, 1999. **210**: p. 197-200.
- 54. Falconer AR, B.R., Helms P, et al, *Pulmonary sequelae in survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* Thorax, 1990. **45**: p. 126-129.
- 55. Flageole H, E.V., et al, *The plug-unplug sequence: an important step to achieve type II pneumocyte maturation in the fetal lamb model.* J Ped Surg, 1998. **33**: p. 299-303.
- 56. Ford WDA, K.C., Wilkinson CS, Furness ME, Slater AJ, Antenatal betamethasone and favourable outcomes in fetuses with 'poor prognosis' diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatr Surg Int, 2002. 18: p. 244-246.
- 57. Francis BM, Relative Teratogenicity of Nitrofen Analogs in Mice: Unchlorinated, Monochlorinated, and Dichlorinated-Phenyl Ethers. Teratology, 1990. **41**: p. 443-451.
- 58. Frank L, L.P., et al, *Dexamethasone stimulation of fetal rat lung antioxidant enzyme activity in parallel with surfactant stimulation* Pediatrics, 1985. **75**: p. 569.
- 59. Frenckner B, E.H., Granholm T, et al, Improved results in patients who have congenital diaphragmatic hernia using preoperative stabilisation, extracorporal

membrane oxygenation, and delayed surgery. j Pediatr Surg, 1997. 32: p. 1185-1189.

- 60. Frostell C, F.M., et al, Inhaled nitric oxide: A selective pulmonary vasodilator reversing hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction. Ciculation, 1991. 83: p. 2038-2047.
- 61. Fuke S, K.T., Mu J, et al, Antenatal prediction of pulmonary hypoplasia by acceleration time/ejection time ratio of fetal pulmonary arteries by doppler blood flow velocimetry. Am J Obstet Gynecology, 2003. **188**: p. 228-233.
- 62. Garne E, H.M., Barisic I, Gjergja R, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: evaluation of prenatal diagnosis in 20 European regions*. Untrasound Obstet Gynecol, 2002. **19**: p. 329-333.
- 63. Garne E, Q.P., de Vigan C, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: a European population-based study of epidemiology, prenatal diagnosis and mortality* Prenat Neonat Med, 1999. **4**: p. 441-447.
- 64. Gerlach H, R.R., et al, *Time course and dose response of nitric oxide inhalation for systemic oxygenation and pulmonary hypertension in patients with adult RDS* Eur J Clin Invest, 1993. **23**: p. 499-502.
- 65. Gibson C, F.E., *Iatrogenic peneumothorax and mortality in congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 1983. **18**: p. 555-559.
- 66. Goh DW, D.D., et al, *Delayed surgery for congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Br J Surg, 1992. **79**: p. 644-646.
- 67. Gray LE, e.a., *Postnatal developmental alterations following prenatal exposure* to the herbicide 2,4-dichlorophenyl 4'-nitrophenyl ether: a dose response evaluation in the mouse. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 1983. **67**: p. 1-14.
- 68. Group, C.D.S., *Does extracorporeal membrane oxygenation improve survival in neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia?* J Ped Surg, 1999. **34**: p. 720-725.
- 69. Group, U.C.E., *The collaborative UK ECMO trial: Follow-up at 1 year of age*. Pediatrics, 1998. **101**: p. 1-10.
- 70. Grover TR, A.K., Le Cras TD, et al, *Repetive prenatal glucocorticoids increase lung endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression in ovine fetuses delivered at term.* Pediatr Res, 2000. **48**: p. 75-83.
- Gunkel JH, e.a., Observational evidence for the efficacy of antenatal steroids from randomized studies of surfactant replacement. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 1995.
 173: p. 281.
- 72. Hampl V, H.J., Weir EK, et al, Activation of the cGMP dependent protein kinase mimics the stimulatory effect of nitric oxide and cGMP on calcium gated potassium channels. Physiol Res, 1995. **44**: p. 39-44.
- 73. Harrison MR, A.N., Bullard KM, et al, *Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero*. Pediatr Surg 1997. **32**: p. 1637-1642.
- 74. Harrison MR, A.N., Estes JM, et al, *A prospective study of the outcome for fetuses with diaphragmatic hernia.* JAMA, 1994. **271**: p. 382-384.
- 75. Harrison MR, A.N., et al, *Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero: VII. a prospective trial.* J Ped Surg, 1997. **32**: p. 1637-1642.
- 76. Harrison MR, B.M., Churg AM, et al, *Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero. II. Simulated correction permits fetal lung growth with survival at birth.* Surgery, 1980. **88**: p. 260-268.
- 77. Harrison Mr, B.R., Langmark F, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: The hidden mortality.* J Pediatr Surg, 1978. **13**: p. 227-230.

- 78. Harrison MR, J.J., Ross NA, Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero. I. The model: intrathoracic balloon produces fatal pulmonary hypoplasia. Surgery, 1980. **88**: p. 174-182.
- 79. Harrison MR, K.R., et al, A randomized trial of fetal endoscopic tracheal occlusion for severe fetal congenital diaphragamtic hernia. New Engl J Med, 2003. **349**: p. 1916-1924.
- 80. Harrison MR, L.J., Adzick NS, et al, *Correction of congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero V: Inital clinical experience.* J Pediatr Surg, 1990. **25**: p. 47-57.
- 81. Harrrison MR, A.N., Nakayama DK, et al, *Fetal Diaphragmatic hernia: Fetal but fixable*. Semin Perinatol, 1985. **9**: p. 103-112.
- 82. Hedrick HL, K.J., Pacheco BA, et al, *Prenatal glucocorticoids improve pulmonary morphometrics in fetal sheep with congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 1997. **32**: p. 217-221.
- 83. Hedrick MH, E.J., et al, *Plug the lung until it grows (PLUG): a new method to treat congenital diaphragmatic hernia in utero.* J Ped Surg, 1994. **29**: p. 612-617.
- 84. Henneberg SW, J.S., et al, *Inhalation of nitric oxide as a treatment of pulmonary hypertension in congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 1995. **30**: p. 853-855.
- 85. Higenbottam T, P.-Z.J., Scott J, et al, Inhaled endothelium derived relaxing factor (EDRF) in primary hypertension. Am Rev Respir Dis, 1988. 137: p. A107.
- 86. Hintz SR, S.D., et al, *Decreased use of neonatal extracorporeal membrane* oxygenation (ECMO): How new treatment modalities have affected ECMO utilization. Pediatrics, 2000. **106**: p. 1339-1343.
- 87. Hobbins JC, G.P., Berkowitz RL, et al, *Ultrasound in the diagnosis of congenital anomalies*. Am J Obstet Gynecology, 1979. **134**: p. 331-245.
- 88. Hobolth N, *Drugs and congenital abnormalities*. Lancel, 1962. **2**: p. 1333.
- 89. Hubbard AM, C.T., Adzick NS, et al, *Prenatal MRI evaluation of congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Am J Perinatol, 1999. **16**: p. 407-413.
- 90. Ichiki T, U.M., Kato M, et al, *Downregulation of angiotensin II type I receptor gene transcription by nitric oxide*. Hypertension, 1998. **31**: p. 342-348.
- 91. Ignarro-LJ, *Biological actions and properties of endothelium derived nitric oxide formed and released from artery and vein.* Circ Res, 1989. **65**: p. 1-21.
- 92. Ignarro LJ, B.G., Wood KS, Bryns RE, et al, *Endothelium derived relaxing factor produced and released from artery and vein is nitric oxide*. Proc Natl Acad Sci, 1987. **84**: p. 9265-9269.
- 93. Ikegami M, B.D., et al, Corticosteroids and surfactant change lung function and protein leaks in the lungs of ventilated premature rabbits. J Clin Invest, 1987.
 79: p. 1371.
- 94. Iritani I, *Experimental study on embryogenesis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Anat Embryol, 1984. **169**: p. 133-139.
- 95. Ivy DD, K.J., et al, *Physiologic characterization of endothelin A and B receptor activity in the ovine fetal pulmonary circulation.* J Clin Invest, 1994. **93**: p. 2141-2148.
- 96. Kaapa P, S.M., et al, Pulmonary hemodynamics after synthetic surfactant replacement in neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. J Pediatr, 1993. **123**: p. 115-119.

- 97. Kamata S, U.N., et al, *Prolonged preoperative stabilisation using highfrequency oscillatory ventilation does not improve the outcome of neonates with congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* Ped Surg Int, 1998. **13**: p. 542-546.
- 98. Kanwar S, K.P., *Nitric oxide is an antiadhesive molecule for leukocytes*. New Horizons, 1995. **3**: p. 93-104.
- 99. Karamanoukian HL, G.P., Wilcox DT, et al, *Pathophysiology of congenital diaphragmatic hernia VIII: Inhaled nitric oxide requires exogenous surfactant therapy in the lamb model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia J Pediatr Surg, 1995.* **30**: p. 1-4.
- 100. karen SW, M.M., et al, *Effect of initial oxide concentration on outcome in infants with persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn*. Biol Neonate, 1999. **75**: p. 215-224.
- 101. Kari MA, H.M., et al, *Prenatal dexamethasone treatment in conjunction with human surfactant therapy: A randomized placebo-controlled multicenter study.* Pediatrics, 1994. **93**: p. 730.
- 102. Kieffer J, S.E., Berg A, et al, *Gastroesophageal reflux associated with large diaphragmatic hernias*. J Pediatr Surg, 1994. **29**: p. 1262-1265.
- 103. Kinsella J, T.F., et al, *Dipyridamole augmentation of response to nitric oxide*. Lancet, 1995. **346**: p. 647-648.
- 104. Kinsella JP, P.D., et al, Clinical responses to prolonged treatment of persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn with low doses of inhaled nitric oxide. J Pediatr, 1993. 123: p. 103-108.
- 105. Kinsella JP, P.T., et al, *Noninvasive delivery of inhaled nitric oxide therapy for late pulmonary hypertension in newborn infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr, 2003. **142**: p. 397-401.
- 106. Kinsella JP, T.W., et al, *Randomized, multicenter trial of inhaled nitric oxide* and high frequency oscillatory ventilation in severe, persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. J Pediatr, 1997. **131**: p. 55-62.
- 107. Kitano Y, A.S., *New developments in fetal lung surgery*. Curr Opin Pulm Med, 1999. **5(6)**: p. 383-390.
- 108. Kluth D, B.C., Nestoris S, et al, *inhaled nitric oxide increases survival rates in newborn rats with congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Eur J Pediatr, 1997. 7: p. 90-92.
- 109. Kluth D, e.a., *Nitrofen-Induced Diaphragmatic Hernias in Rats: An Animal Model.* J Pediatr Surg, 1990. **25**: p. 850-854.
- 110. Kluth D, e.a., *The Natural History of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia and Pulmonary Hypoplasia in the Embryo.* J Pediatr Surg, 1993. **28**: p. 456-463.
- 111. Kluth D, e.a., *Embryology of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia*. Semin Ped Surg, 1996. **5**: p. 224-233.
- Kluth D, L.P., Schnitzer J, Donahoe P, *Toward understanding the developmental anatomy of congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Clinics in Perinatalogy, 1996. 23: p. 655-669.
- 113. Kup J, Zwerchfelldefekt nach abtreibungsversuch mit Chinin. München Med Wochenschr, 1985. 27: p. 2582.
- 114. Langham MR Jr, K.D., Ledbetter DJ, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: epidemiology and outcome*. Clin Perinatol, 1996. **23**: p. 671-688.
- 115. Lau C, C.A., et al, *Teratogenic effects of nitrofen on cellular and functional maturation of the rat lung.* Toxic Appl Pharm, 1988. **95**: p. 412-422.

- 116. Lee SL, P.N., et al, *Staged Reconstruction of large congenital diaphragmatic defects with synthetic patch followed by reverse latissimus dorsi muscle.* J Ped Surg, 2002. **37**: p. 367-370.
- 117. Leinwand MJ, T.J., et al, Nitrofen Inhibition of pulmonary growth and development occurs in the early embryonic mouse. J Ped Surg, 2002. **37**: p. 1263-1268.
- 118. Leveque C, H.J., et al, *Successful repair of a severe left congenital diaphragmatic hernia during continuous inhalation of nitric oxide.* Anesthesiology, 1994. **80**: p. 1171-1175.
- 119. Levin D, Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: A persistent problem. J Pediatr, 1987. 111: p. 390-392.
- 120. Liggins GC, H.R., A controlled trial of antepartum glucocorticoid treatment for prevention of the respiratory distress syndrome in premature infants. pediatrics, 1972. **50**: p. 515.
- 121. Lincoln TM, C.T., Intracellular cyclic GMP receptor proteins. FASEB, 1993. J7: p. 328-338.
- 122. Lipshutz G, A.C., Feldstein V, et al, *Prospective analysis of Lung-to-Head Ratio* predicts survical for patients with prenatally diagnosed congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg, 1997. **32**: p. 1634-1636.
- 123. Lipson AH, W.G., *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in half siblings*. J Med Genet, 1985. 22: p. 145.
- 124. Losada A, X.H., et al, *Lung hypoplasia caused by nitrofen is mediated by downregulation of thyroid transcription factor TTF-1*. Ped Surg Int, 1999. **15**: p. 188-191.
- 125. Losty PD, P.B., Manganaro TF, *Prenatal hormonal therapy improves pulmonary compliance in nitrofen induced CDH rat model.* J Pediatr Surg, 1995. **30**: p. 420-426.
- 126. Losty PD, S.H., Manganaro TF, Donahoe PK, Schnitzer JJ, Prenatal hormonal therapy improves pulmonary compliance in the nitrofen-induced CDH rat model. J Pediatr Surg, 1995. **30**: p. 420-426.
- 127. Lund DP, M.J., Kharasch, V, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: The hidden morbidity.* J Pediatr Surg, 1994. **29**: p. 258-264.
- 128. Mahieu-Caputo D, S.P., Dommergues M, et al, *Fetal lung volume measurement* by magnetic resonanc imaging in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Br J Obstet Gyn, 2001. **108**: p. 863-868.
- 129. Mann O, H.C., Langwieler TE, Tander B, Bloechle C, Izbicki JR, Lambrecht W, Kluth D, *Effect of prenatal glucocorticoids and postnatal nitric oxide inhalation on survival of newborn rats with nitrofen induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 2002. **37**: p. 730-734.
- Manni M, H.R., Den Hollander NS, et al, Prenatal diagnosis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia: a retrospective analysis of 28 cases. Prenat Diagn, 1994.
 14: p. 187.
- 131. Manson, J., *Mechanism of nitrofen teratogenicity*. Environ. Health Perspect, 1986. **70**: p. 137-147.
- 132. Merrill JD, B.R., *Antenatal hormone therapy for fetal lung maturation*. Clinics in Perin, 1998. **25**: p. 983-996.
- 133. Metkus AP, E.L., Sola A, Harrison MR, Adzick NS, *Cost per anomaly: What does a diaphragmatic hernia cost?* J Pediatr Surg, 1995. **30**: p. 226-230.
- 134. Metkus Ap, F.R., Stringer MD, et al, *Sonographic predictors of survival in fetal diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 1996. **31**: p. 148-152.

- 135. Moore, P., *Embryologie*. 4. Auflage ed. 1993: Schattauer Verlag.
- 136. Morin L, C.T., D'Alton ME, *Prenatal Diagnosis and management of fetal thoracic lesions*. Semin Perinatol, 1994. **18**: p. 228-253.
- 137. Murad, F., *Cyclic guanosine monophosphate as a mediator of vasodilation*. J Clin Invest, 1986. **78**: p. 1-5.
- 138. Murad, F., *Regulation of cytosolic guanylyl cyclase by nitric oxide: the NO-cyclic GMP signal transduction system.* Adv Pharmacol, 1994. **26**: p. 19-33.
- 139. Muratore C, U.S., Jaksic T, Lund D, et al, *Nutritional Morbidity in Survivors of Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 2001. **36**: p. 1171-1176
- 140. Muratore CS, K.V., Lund DP, et al, *Pulmonary morbidity in one hundred survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia followed in a multidisciplinary clinic.* J Pediatr Surg, 2001. **36**: p. 133-140.
- 141. Mychaliska GB, B.K., Harrison MR, et al, *In utero management of congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Clin Perinatol, 1996. **23**: p. 823-841.
- 142. Naeye RL, S.S., Whitman V, Maisels MJ, Unsuspected pulmonary vascular abnormalities associated with diaphragmatic hernia. Pediatrics, 1976. 58: p. 902-906.
- 143. Nakagawa TA, M.A., et al, *Dose response to inhaled nitric oxide in pediatric patients with pulmonary hypertension and acute respiratory distress syndrome.* J Pediatr, 1997. **131**: p. 63-69.
- 144. Nakamura T, K.K., et al, *Immunoreactive endothelin concentrations in maternal and fetal blood*. Life Sci, 1990. **46**: p. 1045-1050.
- 145. Nakao Y, I., Kishimoto H, *Experimental animal model of congenital diaphragmatic hernia induced chemically*. Teratology, 1981. **24**: p. 11A (abstr).
- 146. Nakao Y, U.R., Congenital diaphragmatic hernia induced by nitrofen in mice and rats: Characteristics as animal model and pathogenetic relationship between diaphragmatic hernia and lung hypoplasia. Congen Anom, 1987. 27: p. 397-417.
- 147. Nardo L, H.S., et al, *Lung hypoplasia can be reversed by short term obstruction* of the trachea in fetal sheep. Ped Res, 1995. **38**: p. 690-696.
- 148. Nobuhara KK, L.D., Mitchell J, et al, *Long-term outlook for survivors of congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Clin Perinatol, 1996. **23**: p. 873-887.
- 149. Numanoglu A, M.C., Rode H, *Prediction of outcome in congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Pediatr Surg Int, 1998. **13**: p. 564-568.
- 150. O'Rourke P, L.C., et al, *The effect of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation on the survival of neonates with high risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia: 45 cases from a single institution.* J Ped Surg, 1991. **26**: p. 147-152.
- 151. Okoye BO, L.P., Lloyd DA, et al, *Effect of prenatal glucocorticoids on pulmonary vasculature muscularisation in nitrofen induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 1998. **33**: p. 76-80.
- 152. Okoyo BO, L.P., et al, Antenatal glucocorticoid therapy suppresses angiotensinconverting enzyme activity in rats with nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Ped Surg, 1998. **33**: p. 286-291.
- 153. Organization, E.L.S., *ECMO Registry of the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO)*. ELSO, 1999. July.
- 154. Palmer RMJ, F.A., Moncada S, *Nitirc oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor*. Nature, 1987. **327**: p. 523-526.
- 155. Paret G, E.O., et al, *Endotracheal talazoline: pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in dogs.* Acta Pediatr, 1999. **88**: p. 1020-1023.

- 156. Passarge E, H.H., German J, Unilateral agenesis of the diaphragm. Human genetik, 1968. 5: p. 226.
- 157. Peng W, H.J., Karwande SV, et al, *Effect of chronic hypoxia on K+ channels:* regulation in human pulmonary vasculatur smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol, 1997. **272**: p. C1271-C1278.
- Pepka-Zaba J, H.T., Dinh-Xuan AT, et al, *Inhaled nitric oxide as a cause of selective pulmonary vasodilation in pulmonary hypertension*. Lancet, 1991. 338: p. 1173-1174.
- 159. Philip N, G.D., Guys JM, et al, *Epidemiological study of congenital diaphragmatic defects with special reference to aetiology*. Eur J Pediatr, 1991. **150**: p. 726-729.
- 160. Powell PD, J.J., *Phenometrazine and foetal abnormalities*. Br Med J 1962. **11**: p. 1327.
- 161. Pranikoff T, G.P., et al, *Partial liquid ventilation in newborn patients with congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Ped Surg, 1996. **31**(613-618).
- 162. Pringle KC, *Lung development in congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Mod Probl Paediatr, 1989. **24**: p. 28-53.
- 163. Radomski MW, W.K., Ignarro LJ, *Endogenous nitric oxide inhibits human platelet adhesion to vascular endothelium.* Lancet, 1987. **2**: p. 1057-1058.
- 164. Redmond EM, C.P., Hodges R, Zhang S, et al, *Regulation of endothelin receptors by nitric oxide in cultured rat vascular smooth muscle cells.* J Cell Physiol, 1996. **166**: p. 469-479.
- 165. Reyes C, C.L., Waffarn F, et al, *Depayed repair of congenital diaphragmatic hernia with early hig frequency oscillatory ventilation during preoperative stabilisation.* J Pediatr Surg, 1998. **33**: p. 1010-1014.
- 166. Roberts JD, C.T., et al, *Inhaled nitric oxide reverses pulmonary vasoconstriction in the hypoxic and acidotic newborn lamb.* Circ Res, 1993. **72**: p. 246-254.
- 167. Roberts JD Jr, F.J., et al, *Inhaled nitric oxide and persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn*. N Engl J Med, 1997. **336**: p. 605-610.
- 168. Ruano R, B.A., et al, Can three-dimensional ultrasound be used for the assessment of the fetal lung volume in cases of congenital diaphragmatic hernia? Fetal Diagn Ther, 2004. **19**: p. 87-91.
- 169. Ruano R, B.A., Joubin L, et al, *Three-dimensional unltrasonographic* assessment of fetal lung volume as prognostic factor in isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia. BJOG, 2004. **111**: p. 423-429.
- 170. Sadler T, L., *Medizinische Embryologie*. 10. Auflage ed. 2003: Thieme Verlag. 178-187.
- 171. Sawyer SF, F.K., et al, *Improving survival in the treatment of congenital diaphragamtic hernia*. Ann Thor Surg, 1986. **41**: p. 75-78.
- 172. Schmidt HW, L.S., Walter U, *The nitirc oxide and cGMP signal transduction system : regulation and mechanism of action*. Biochim Biophys Acta 1178, 1993: p. 153-175.
- 173. Schnitzer JJ, H.H., Pacheco BA, et al, *Prenatal glucocorticoid therapy reverses* pulmonary immaturity in congenital diaphragmatic hernia in fetal sheep. Ann Surgery, 1996. **224**: p. 430-437.
- 174. Shah N, J.T., et al, *Inhaled nitric oxide in congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. J Pediatr Surg, 1994. **29**: p. 1010-1015.
- 175. Sharland GK, L.S., Heward AJ, et al, *Prognosis in fetal diaphragmatic hernia*. Am J Obstet Gynecology, 1992. **166**: p. 9-13.

- 176. Siebert JR, H.J., Beckwith JB, Left ventricular hypoplasia in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg, 1984. **19**: p. 567-571.
- 177. Simson JNL, E.H., *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: A 20 year experience*. Br J Surg, 1985. **72**: p. 733-736.
- 178. Singalet DL, N.L., Adolph V, et al, *Gastroesophageal reflux associated with large diaphragmatic hernias*. J Pediatr Surg, 1994. **29**: p. 1262-1265.
- 179. Skari H, B.K., Haugen G, Egeland T, Emblem R, Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia: A meta-analysis of mortality factors. J Pediatr Surg, 2000. **35**(8): p. 1187-1197.
- 180. Sokol J, B.D., Lacro RV, et al, *Fetal pulmonary artery diameters and their association with lung hypoplasia and postnatal outcome in congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* Am J Obstet Gynecology, 2002. **186**: p. 1085-1090.
- 181. Solari V, P.P., *Glucocorticoid receptor gene expression in the hypoplastic lung of newborns with congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Ped Surg, 2002. **37**: p. 715-718.
- Somaschini M, L.G., et al, Impact of new treatments for respiratory failure on outcome of infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Eur J Pediatr, 1999.
 158: p. 780-784.
- 183. Somme S., L.D., *New trends in extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in newborn pulmonary diseases.* Artificial Organs 2001. **25**: p. 633-637.
- 184. Ssemakula N, S.D., et al, Survival of patients with congenital diaphragmatic hernia during the ECMO era: An 11-year experience. J Ped Surg, 1997. **32**: p. 1683-1689.
- 185. Stege G, F.A., Jaffray B, *Nihilism in the 1990s: The true mortality of congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* Pediatrics, 2003. **112**: p. 532-535.
- 186. Steinhorn RH, K.O., Green TP, McKay CJ, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in Minnesota. Impact of prenatal diagnosis on survival.* Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med, 1994. **148**: p. 626-631.
- 187. Stevens TP, C.P., et al, Survival in early- and late-term infants with congenital diaphragmatic hernia treated with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. Pediatrics, 2002. **110**: p. 590-596.
- 188. Stranak Z, Z.V., et al, *Changes in alveolar-arterial oxygen difference and oxygenation index during low dose nitric oxide inhalation in 15 newborns with severe respiratory insufficiency.* Neonatology, 1996. **155**: p. 907-910.
- 189. Suen HC, L.P., Donahue PK, et al, *Antenatal glucocorticoid corrects pulmonary immaturity in experimentally induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in rats.* Pediatr Res, 1994. **35**: p. 523-529.
- 190. Suen HC, L.P., Donahue PK, et al, *Combined antenatal thyrotroponin-releasing hormone and low dose glucocorticoid therapy improves pulmonary biochemical immaturity in congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Pediatr Surg, 1994. **29**: p. 359-363.
- 191. Sydorak R, H.M., Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia: Advances in Prenatal Therapy. World J. Surg, 2003. 27: p. 68-76.
- 192. Taira Y, M.E., Ohshiro K, et al, Administration of antenatal glucocorticoids prevents pulmonary artery structural changes in nitrofen-induced congenital diaphragmatic hernia in rats. J Pediatr Surg, 1998. **33**: p. 1052-1056.
- 193. Tazuke Y, K.H., Soh H, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia in identical twins*. Pediatr Surg Int, 2000. **16**: p. 512-514.
- 194. Tenbrinck R, T.D., Gaillard JLJ, Kluth D, et al, *Experimentally Induced Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia in Rats.* J Pediatr Surg, 1990. 25: p. 426-429.

- 195. Terragno NA, T.A., et al, *Endogenous prostaglandin synthesis inhibitor in the renal cortex. Effects on production of prostacyclin by renal blood vessels.* Clin Sci Mol Med Suppl, 1978. **4**: p. 199-202.
- 196. Thebaud B, M.J., Dinh-Xuan AT, Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: A cause of persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn which lacks an effective therapy. Biol Neonate, 1998. 74: p. 323-336.
- 197. Thebaud B, S.C., et al, *Dypiridamole, a cGMP phosphodiesterase inhibitor, transiently improves the response to inhaled nitric oxide in two newborns with congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* Inten Care Med, 1999. **25**: p. 300-303.
- 198. Thorpe-Beeston JG, G.C., Nicolaides KH, Prenatal diagnosis of congenital diaphragmatic hernia: Associated malformations and chromosomal defects. Fetal therap, 1989. 4(21).
- 199. Tibboel D, G.A., *Etiologic and genetic factors in congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Clinics in Perinatalogy, 1996. **4**: p. 689-699.
- 200. Torfs CP, C.C., Bateson TF, Honorare LH, A population based study of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Teratology, 1992. 46: p. 555-565.
- 201. Touloukian RJ, H.J., *Maternal ultrasonography in the antenatal diagnosis of surgically correctable fetal abnormalities.* J Pediatr Surg, 1980. **15**: p. 373-377.
- 202. Touloukian RJ, M.R., A preoperativ X-ray scoring system for risk assessment of newborns with congenital diaphragmatic hernia. J Pediatr Surg, 1984. **19**: p. 252-257.
- Vanamo K, A 45-year perspective of congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Br J Surg, 1996. 83: p. 1758-1762.
- 204. Vanamo K, R.R., Sovijarvi, et al, Long-Term Pulmonary Sequelae in Survivors of Congenital Diaphragmatic Defects. J Pediatr Surg, 1996. **31**(8): p. 1096-1100.
- 205. VIlis-i-Soler A, A.F., et al, *Liquid ventilation: from experimental use to clinical application*. Biol Neonate, 2001. **80**: p. 29-33.
- 206. Walsch DS, H.A., Olutoye OO, et al, Assessment of fetal lung volumes and liver herniation with magnetic resonance imaging in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Am J Obstet Gynecology, 2000. **183**: p. 1067-1069.
- 207. Waranky J, R.C., *Congenital malformations induced in rats by maternal vitamin A deficiencies*. J Nutr, 1948. **35**(1).
- 208. Weigel TJ, H.J., et al, National Survey of diagnosis and management of persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn. J Perinatal, 1990. **10**: p. 369-375.
- 209. Weinberger B, H.D., Laskin DL, et al, *Nitric oxide in the lung: therapeutic and cellular mechanisms of action.* Pharm & Therap, 1999. **84**: p. 401-411.
- 210. Weinberger B, W.K., et al, *Pharmacologic therapy of persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn.* Pharm Ther, 2001. **89**: p. 67-79.
- 211. Wells LJ, *Development of the human diaphragm and pleural sacs*. Contrib Embryol Carnegie Inst, 1954. **35**: p. 107-137.
- 212. Wessel DL, A.I., et al, *Improved oxygenation in randomized trial of inhaled nitric oxide for persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn*. Pediatrics, 1997. **100**(E7).
- 213. West KW, B.K., et al, *Delayed surgical repair and ECMO improves survival in congenital diaphragmatic hernia*. Ann Surg, 1992. **216**: p. 454-462.
- 214. Wilcox DT, G.P., et al, *Partial liquid ventilation and nitric oxide in congenital diaphragmatic hernia.* J Ped Surg, 1997. **8**: p. 1211-1215.

- 215. Wild YK, P.G., et al, Short-term tracheal occlusion in fetal lambs with diaphragmatic hernia improves lung function, even in the absence of lung growth. J Ped Surg, 2000. **35**: p. 775-779.
- 216. Wilson JG, *Teratogenic effects of environmental chemicals*. Fed Proc, 1977. **36**: p. 1698-1703.
- 217. Wilson JM, F.D., Lund DP, et al, Antenatal diagnosis of isolated congenital diaphragmatic hernia is not an indicator of outcome. J Pediatr Surg, 1994. 29: p. 815-819.
- Wilson JM, L.D., et al, Delayed repair and preoperative ECMO does not improve survival in high-risk congenital diaphragmatic hernia J Ped Surg, 1992.
 27: p. 368-375.
- 219. Wilson JM, L.D., et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia a tale of two cities: The Boston experience.* J Pediatr Surg, 1997. **32**: p. 401-405.
- 220. Wolff G, e.a., *Familial congenital diaphragmatic defect: Review and conclusions*. Human genetik, 1980. **54**(1).
- 221. WP, K., A decade of extracorporeal membrane oxygenation J Pediatr, 1994. **124**: p. 335-347.
- 222. Wung JT, S.R., Moffitt ST, et al, *Congenital diaphragmatic hernia: Survival treated with very delayed surgery, spontaneous respiration, and no chest tube.* J Pediatr Surg, 1995. **30**: p. 406-409.
- 223. Yamaguchi N, e.a., A prospective clinical study on inhaled nitric oxide therapy for neonates in Japan. Ped International, 2001. **43**: p. 20-25.
- 224. Yanagisawa M, K.H., et al A novel peptide vasoconstrictor, endothelin, is produced by vascular endothelium and modulates smooth muscle Calcium channels. J Hypertens Suppl, 1988. 6: p. 188-191.
- 225. Zapol WM, H.W., Inhaled nitric oxide in the adult repiratory distress syndrome and other lung diseases. New Horizons, 1993. 1: p. 638-650.
- 226. Ziegler JW, I.D., et al, *The role of nitric oxide, endothelin, and prostaglandins in the transition of the pulmonary circulation.* Clin Perinatal, 1995. **22**: p. 387-403.
- 227. Ziegler JW, I.D., et al, *Effects of dipyridamole and inhaled nitric oxide in pediatric patients with pulmonary hypertension*. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1998. **158**: p. 1388-1395.

7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. med. D. Kluth for giving me the opportunity to work on this project and attain my doctorate. Special thanks go to my parents, George and Maria Savvas, for always being there for me throughout my studies and training. Their constant motivation and support has not only been vital to the completion of this thesis, but also to many other aspects of my life. They serve as my role models in life and I will always be grateful for the sacrifices they have made for my well-being. Lastly, I express thanks to Nadja Oliveira for supporting me at home while I was in the long writing phase of this doctoral thesis.

8 LEBENSLAUF

Name:	Eleftherios Savvas	
Anschrift:	Am Löwentor 20, 56075 Koblenz	
Email:	Tedsavvas@yahoo.com	an
Geburtsdatum, -ort:	23.09.1974 in Athen, Griechenland	Real
Familie:	Vater: George Savvas Mutter: Maria Savvas	
Staatsangehörigkeit:	griechisch, U.S. amerikanisch	
1977	Immigration meiner Familie nach New Jer	rsey, USA

Hochschule:

9/91 – 5/94	Stevens Institute of Technology, Hoboken, NJ, USA Abgeschlossenes Studium in chemischer Biologie
	Diplom: Bachelor of Science with Honor
	Forschungsthema: Diffusion of organic reagents through S. Cerevisiae
10/94-02/95	WS 94/95 Sprachkurs an der Universität Hamburg, Abteilung für Deutsch als Fremdsprache
04/95-11/02	Universität Hamburg, Universitätsklinikum Eppendorf Abgeschlossenes Studium in Humanmedizin
11/01 – 12/01	1. PJ Tertial: Chirurgie - SUNY Downstate Medical Center, Brooklyn, NY
01/02 - 02/02	1. PJ Tertial: Chirugie – Tulane University Health Science Center
03/02 - 04/02	2. PJ Tertial: HNO – Tulane University Health Science Center
05/02 - 06/02	2. PJ Tertial: HNO – Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas
07/02 - 09/02	3. PJ Tertial: Pulmonologie + Onkologie: UKE, Hamburg
04/2003	United States Medical Licensing Examination Step I

Facharztausbildung:

- 12/02 05/04 Arzt im Praktikum am Universitätsklinkum Schleswig-Holstein, Campus Lübeck, Abteilung für Hals-, Nasen-, Ohrenheilkunde. Prof. Dr. med. Wollenberg
- 09/04 jetzt Assistenzarzt: Kath. Klinikum Marienhof, Koblenz, Abteiling für Hals-Nasen-, und Ohrenheilkunde. Prof. Dr. med. Maurer

9 EIDESSTATTLICHE VERSICHERUNG:

Ich versichere ausdrücklich, dass ich die Arbeit selbstständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und das aus den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen einzeln nach Ausgabe (Auflage und Jahr des Erscheinens), Band und Seite des benutzten Werkes kenntlich gemacht habe.

Ferner versichere ich, dass ich die Dissertation bisher nicht einem Fachvertreter an einer anderen Hochschule zur Überprüfung vorgelegt oder mich anderweitig um Zulassung zur Promotion beworben habe.

Eleftherios Savvas